
“I pledge to build a stronger and more prosperous community by advocating for civil 
engagement, respecting others and their viewpoints, and finding solutions for the betterment of 
my city.” 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

229 MAIN STREET, CONWAY, SC 29526 
MONDAY, APRIL 15, 2024 - 4:00 PM 

PLEASE SILENCE ALL ELECTRONIC DEVICES 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

II. INVOCATION/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE – Rev. Kyle Randle, First United Methodist

III. CONSENT AGENDA

A. Approval of Adoption of Annual Resolution Recognizing April as National Fair Housing
Month 

B. Approval of Special Event – Under the Lights 5K – December 11, 2024 

C. Approval of a Resolution to accept a Letter of Credit for the Remaining Infrastructure for 
Kingston Bay, Phase 2. 

D. Approval of Purchase of Replacement Vehicle for the Fire Department (budgeted) 

E. Approval of Purchase of Vehicle for the Finance Department (budgeted) 

F. Resolution Accepting Dedication of Roadway and Drainage System for Jenkins Field 
Road 

G. Resolution Honoring Gary Gilmore 

H. Approval of March 18, 2024 Council Meeting Minutes 

IV. PUBLIC INPUT

V. INTRODUCTION OF NEW HIRES 

VI. SPECIAL PRESENTATION

A. Presentation of a Proclamation Declaring April as Autism Acceptance Month 

B. Presentation of Employee of the Month for April 2024 – Public Service 

VII. FIRST READING

1



“I pledge to build a stronger and more prosperous community by advocating for civil 
engagement, respecting others and their viewpoints, and finding solutions for the betterment of 
my city.” 
 
 

 
First Reading of Ordinance #ZA2024-05-06 to annex approximately 0.34 acres of property 
located at 5204 Columbia Street (PIN 383-08-03-0003), and rezone from the Horry County 
Residential, no mobile homes allowed, district (SF10) to the City of Conway Low/Medium-
Density Residential (R-1) district. (Dennis)  

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
VIII. CONSIDERATION 

 
A. Consideration of a Resolution to authorize the fee-in-lieu of open space for the 

(proposed) Chapman Village subdivision located on Medlen Parkway (parent PIN: 338-
00-00-0003). (Dennis) 
 

B. Consideration of Approval of a Special Event – Gobble Gobble 5K & 1 Miler – November 
23, 2024 (Rogers) 
 

C. Consideration of Approval of a Standard 5K Run Route (Rogers) 
 

IX. CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT  
 
X. COUNCIL INPUT 
 
XI. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

Consideration of Appointments to Boards, Commissions and Committees for the Board of 
Zoning Appeals, Planning Commission and Conway Housing Authority [pursuant to SC Code 
§30-4-70(A) (1)]. 

 
XII. RECONVENE FROM EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
XIII. POSSIBLE ACTION ON MATTERS DISCUSSED IN EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
XIV. ADJOURNMENT   

 
Any citizen of the municipality may make an appearance before City Council concerning any municipal matter 
with the exception of personnel matters.  Persons desiring to speak must notify the City Clerk prior to the 
beginning of the meeting.  However, if you are speaking regarding a public hearing item, then you would do so 
during that time on the agenda.  Please address Council from the podium stating your name, address, and the 
subject you would like to discuss.  The public may also access the meeting at https://www.conwaysc.gov/ under 
the “Latest Events” tab on the home page.  If you are unable to attend and would like to voice your concerns or 
comments regarding a request, please call the City Hall at 843-248-1760 or email ashelley@conwaysc.gov to be 
received prior to 12:00 noon on April 15, 2024.  To ensure proper recording of public comments left on the 
City’s voicemail, callers are urged to clearly pronounce their names and addresses, preferably providing spelling 
for both. 

2

https://www.conwaysc.gov/
mailto:ashelley@conwaysc.gov


 DATE:  APRIL 15, 2024 
 ITEM:  III.A. 
 
 
ISSUE:  
 
Adoption of annual resolution recognizing April as National Fair Housing Month 
 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
City Council annually adopts a resolution recognizing April as National Fair Housing Month as 
designated by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).  A proposed 
resolution recognizing Fair Housing Month 2024 is attached for Council’s consideration. 
 
Fair housing goals and objectives are an integral part of the City and are incorporated into the long 
term plans for the Community Development Block Grant Program (CDBG).  The City of Conway 
actively pursues compliance with the National Fair Housing Law and regularly provides education 
through both of the above referenced programs. In addition, the Horry County Community 
Development Office provides fair housing information to housing consumers and housing 
providers. 
 
The Fair Housing Act is Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968, as amended.  This law prohibits 
the discrimination in the sale, rental, financing and advertising and calls for equal access regardless 
of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, age, familial status or disability. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Adopt the attached resolution. 
 

3



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
COUNTY OF HORRY ) R E S O L U T I O N 
CITY OF CONWAY ) 

FAIR HOUSING RESOLUTION 

WHEREAS, the City of Conway desires that all its citizens be afforded the opportunity to attain a decent, safe, 
and sound living environment; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Conway rejects discrimination on the basis of race, religion, color, sex, national origin, 
disability, and/or familial status in the sale, rental, or provision of other housing services, and 

WHEREAS, the State of South Carolina enacted the South Carolina Fair Housing Law in 1989; and 

WHEREAS, April is recognized nationally as Fair Housing Month; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Conway does hereby designate April 2024 as Fair 
Housing Month in the City of Conway. 

RATIFIED BY CITY COUNCIL, duly assembled, this 15th day of April, 2024. 

Barbara Jo Blain, Mayor Larry A. White, Mayor Pro Tem 

Amanda Butler, Council Member William M. Goldfinch IV, Council Member 

Julie Ann Hardwick, Council Member Beth Helms, Council Member 

Justin D. Jordan, Council Member ATTEST:   Alicia Shelley, City Clerk 

4



 DATE:  APRIL 15, 2024 
 ITEM:  III.B.    
    
 
ISSUE:  
 
Special event request:   Under the Lights 5K, Wednesday, December 11, 2024  
 
 
BACKGROUND:   
 
The 6th Annual Under the Lights 5k is planned for Wednesday, December 11, 2024 from 
6:00 p.m. – 8:00 p.m.  This 5K will take place during the Celebration of Lights. We anticipate 
approximately 400 participants. The race will also serve as an advertisement for the Celebration 
of Lights. 
 
Police and Fire Department personnel will provide assistance for this event. Conway Parks & 
Recreation will have volunteers available along the race route and for cleanup.   
 
Parks & Recreation has requested street closures during the event (see attached map of race route), 
and assistance with traffic control and standby medical assistance is also requested. 
 
The race route will be closed for one hour for the runners/walkers to compete; however, local 
traffic will be allowed to utilize the streets when there is adequate spacing between race 
participants so that safety will not be jeopardized. Walkers, etc., will use the sidewalks and obey 
normal traffic regulations along the route. Standby medical assistance will be provided by on-duty 
Fire Department personnel.   
 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Approve the special event request for the 5k Under the Lights as presented. 
 

5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



 
 DATE:  APRIL 15, 2024 
 ITEM:  III.C.   
ISSUE: 
Resolution authorizing Diamond Shores to secure a Letter of Credit (LOC) guaranteeing the installation 
of the remaining infrastructure in the Kingston Bay, Phase II, subdivision. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
On September 9, 2022, the Technical Review Committee approved the preliminary plans for Kingston 
Bay subdivision, located on Oak Street and Cultra Road. Phase two of the Kingston Bay subdivision will 
contain 71 single-family lots. The remaining infrastructure requirements (not yet installed) for this phase 
of Kingston Bay include erosion control items, water & sewer improvements, sidewalks, landscaping 
(buffer plantings, irrigation and street trees), remaining roadway improvements, and misc. items. 
 

Per Section 10.6.1 of the UDO, in lieu of requiring the completion, installation, and inspection of all or 
any part of the required improvements described in the regulations prior to final plat approval, the City 
of Conway shall accept a financial guarantee whereby the applicant shall agree to complete all required 
improvements. A financial surety in the form of cash, cashier’s check, or irrevocable letter of credit will 
be required by Conway City Council if these requirements cannot be provided prior to the recording of 
the final plat. This cost estimate has been provided by the engineer and has been approved by the 
Technical Review Committee.  The Letter of Credit is required to equal 125% of the cost of construction.  
The Developer will receive final plat approval and obtain the Letter of Credit in the approved amount 
only upon passing inspection from the Public Works Dept. and Planning Dept. that all non-secured 
improvements have been installed.  
 

Kingston Bay subdivision, Phase II – Remaining Infrastructure – Cost Estimates 

Erosion control (inlet protection, silt fence, grassing, etc.) 

Water & Sewer improvements  

5’ sidewalk (26,310 SF) 

Landscape buffer items (plants, trees, irrigation, pond trees, fencing for buffer, etc.) 

Roadway items (1.5” Type C Asphalt Surface and binder course, Painting & Striping, and 

Roadway Signs) 

Misc. (pond excavation, engineering / survey costs) 

$19,987.50 

$705,555.73 

$157,860 

$153,850.00 

$94,890.40 

 

$30,000.00 

Subtotal $1,162,143.63 

+ 25% $290,535.91 
  

Total Costs $1,452,679.54 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approving the resolution in order to accept the letter of credit in the amount of 
$1,452,679.54 by Diamond Shores to financially guarantee the installation of the remaining 
infrastructure requirements in Phase II of the Kingston Bay subdivision. 

23



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
COUNTY OF HORRY ) RESOLUTION 
CITY OF CONWAY ) 

ACCEPTING THE LETTER OF CREDIT FROM DIAMOND SHORES TO ALLOW FOR 
THE SURETY OF INFRASTRUCTURE IN THE KINGSTON BAY (PHASE 2) SUBDIVISION 

WHEREAS, Diamond Shores is required to install infrastructure within the City Limits of Conway 
by the City of Conway’s Unified Development Ordinance (UDO); and 

WHEREAS, Diamond Shores will request approval to convey his / her right, title, and all interest 
related to the new roads and infrastructure once installed and approved by the City of 
Conway; and 

WHEREAS, Conway City Council has determined it would be in the best interest of Conway and 
its citizens to accept the Letter of Credit for the new infrastructure; 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Conway, South 
Carolina to accept the Letter of Credit from Diamond 
Shores. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Resolution is hereby adopted and made a part of the City Records 
this ____ day of __________, 2024. 

Barbara Jo Blain, Mayor Larry A. White, Mayor Pro Tem 

Amanda Butler, Council Member William M. Goldfinch IV, Council Member 

Julie Ann Hardwick, Council Member Beth Helms, Council Member 

Justin D. Jordan, Council Member ATTEST: Alicia Shelley, City Clerk 

15 April

24



         $6.00      $157,860.00

$1,162,143.63

$1,452,679.54

25



·
·

KINGSTON BAY

60
09

 N
. K

in
gs

 H
ig

hw
ay

M
yr

tle
 B

ea
ch

, S
C

 2
95

77

O
: (

84
3)

 4
44

-1
02

0
F:

 (8
43

) 4
48

-3
93

6
w

w
w

.ro
w

ep
sc

.c
om

R
SE

C
E

OF
E
SIO

AL
R
ICE
S

MP
A

R
P

O
OW

S
N

V
NY

DI
AM

O
ND

 S
HO

RE
S 

L.
L.

C.

KI
NG

ST
O

N 
BA

Y 
PH

AS
E 

2
M

AJ
O

R 
FI

NA
L 

SU
BD

IV
IS

IO
N 

PL
AT

1 OF 3

PR
EP

AR
ED

 F
O

R:
CI

TY
 O

F 
CO

NW
AY

, H
O

RR
Y 

CO
UN

TY
, S

O
UT

H 
CA

RO
LI

NA

26



60
09

 N
. K

in
gs

 H
ig

hw
ay

M
yr

tle
 B

ea
ch

, S
C

 2
95

77

O
: (

84
3)

 4
44

-1
02

0
F:

 (8
43

) 4
48

-3
93

6
w

w
w

.ro
w

ep
sc

.c
om

R
SE

C
E

OF
E
SIO

AL
R
ICE
S

MP
A

R
P

O
OW

S
N

V
NY

DI
AM

O
ND

 S
HO

RE
S 

L.
L.

C.

KI
NG

ST
O

N 
BA

Y 
PH

AS
E 

2
M

AJ
O

R 
FI

NA
L 

SU
BD

IV
IS

IO
N 

PL
AT

2 OF 3

PR
EP

AR
ED

 F
O

R:
CI

TY
 O

F 
CO

NW
AY

, H
O

RR
Y 

CO
UN

TY
, S

O
UT

H 
CA

RO
LI

NA

27



60
09

 N
. K

in
gs

 H
ig

hw
ay

M
yr

tle
 B

ea
ch

, S
C

 2
95

77

O
: (

84
3)

 4
44

-1
02

0
F:

 (8
43

) 4
48

-3
93

6
w

w
w

.ro
w

ep
sc

.c
om

R
SE

C
E

OF
E
SIO

AL
R
ICE
S

MP
A

R
P

O
OW

S
N

V
NY

DI
AM

O
ND

 S
HO

RE
S 

L.
L.

C.

KI
NG

ST
O

N 
BA

Y 
PH

AS
E 

2
M

AJ
O

R 
FI

NA
L 

SU
BD

IV
IS

IO
N 

PL
AT

3 OF 3

PR
EP

AR
ED

 F
O

R:
CI

TY
 O

F 
CO

NW
AY

, H
O

RR
Y 

CO
UN

TY
, S

O
UT

H 
CA

RO
LI

NA

28



 
DATE:  APRIL 15, 2024 
ITEM:  III.D. 

 
 
 
ISSUE 
 
Replacement vehicle for Fire Department. 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Fire Department is adding a staff vehicle to replace a 2016 Chevrolet Impala.  This vehicle 
will be an extended cab pick-up truck, which will be used by the Fire Inspector.  This purchase 
would include select add-ons needed for the Fire Department.  The Procurement Division recently 
solicited bids for staff vehicles for the FY23/24 budget.  The bids were tabulated and the lowest 
bid was selected. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Authorize the purchase of a 2024 Ford F-150 Crew Cab for $45,878.00 from Santee Automotive.  
 
 

29



QUOTE
2023 Ford F-150 Crew Cab 4x2

Santee Automotive LLC
2601 Paxville Highway

Manning, South Carolina 29102
United States

Phone: 1-888-853-5338
Fax: 1-888-853-5338
info@santeefleet.com

BILL TO
City of Conway
David Crotts
1000 2nd Avenue
PO Drawer 1075
Conway, South Carolina 29528
United States

843-488-7633
dcrotts@cityofconway.com

Estimate Number: 1020

Estimate Date: April 2, 2024

Valid Until: June 1, 2024

Estimate Total
(USD):

$45,878.00

Units Quantity Price Amount

Ford F-150 Crew Cab 4x2
State Contract 4400029870

2023 Ford F-150 Crew Cab 4x2
XL Trim - 101A Package
3.5 V6 EcoBoost
10 Speed Automatic transmission
Medium Dark Slate Vinyl
Vinyl Floors
Vinyl Seats
40/20/40 Front Bench Seat
17" Silver Steel Wheels
3.31 Electronic Lock RR Axle
Running Boards
Spray in Bed Liner

1 $40,453.00 $40,453.00

Exterior Color
Oxford White

1 $0.00 $0.00

3rd Key Fob
Third Key Fob

1 $400.00 $400.00

Vehicle Delivery
$1.50 Per Mile

1 $125.00 $125.00

Dixie Products
4 Way and 7 Way Trailer Plug

1 $100.00 $100.00

Dixie Products
Fiber glass Cab & Slide out

1 $4,300.00 $4,300.00

Page 1 of 2 for Quote #1020 30



Units Quantity Price Amount

Vehicle Sales Tax
South Carolina Vehicle Sales Tax/Infrastructure
Maintenance Fee

1 $500.00 $500.00

Subtotal: $45,878.00

Total: $45,878.00

Estimate Total (USD): $45,878.00

Page 2 of 2 for Quote #1020

QUOTE
2023 Ford F-150 Crew Cab 4x2

Santee Automotive LLC
2601 Paxville Highway

Manning, South Carolina 29102
United States

Phone: 1-888-853-5338
Fax: 1-888-853-5338
info@santeefleet.com

31



DATE:  APRIL 15, 2024 

ITEM:  III.E. 

 

 

ISSUE 

Purchase Finance Vehicle for the Warehouse (budgeted) 

 

BACKGROUND 

The Finance Department budgeted $45,000 for a delivery vehicle. We received a State Contract 
price of $42,317.00 from Santee Automotive. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approval to purchase the needed vehicle.   

 

32



33



34



 
 

DATE:  APRIL 15, 2024 
ITEM:  III.F.  
 

 
   
 
ISSUE:  
 
Resolution accepting dedication of roadway known as Jenkins Field Road. 
 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The Public Works staff completed the road known as Jenkins Field Road connecting 16th 
Ave. and Mill Pond Road.  A 50’ right-of-way was platted for public use and included 
stormwater pipe, sidewalk, and street trees.  All stormwater outside the right-of-way will 
remain private. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  

Adopt the resolution accepting dedication of roadway and drainage system for Jenkins 
Field Road.   
 

 

35



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA              ) 
COUNTY OF HORRY ) RESOLUTION 
CITY OF CONWAY ) 

ACCEPTING THE ROADWAYS AND DRAINAGE SYSTEM 
FOR JENKINS FIELD ROAD 

WHEREAS, The City of Conway Public Works Department has installed a roadway and 
drainage system within the city limits of Conway; and  

WHEREAS, Jenkins Properties, LLC is requesting approval to dedicate street rights of way for 
Jenkins Field Road. 

WHEREAS, Jenkins Properties, LLC also requests to convey their right, title and all interest 
related to the drainage system together with all public easements and rights of way 
thereto, located within Jenkins Field Road. 

WHEREAS, Conway City Council has determined it would be in the best interest of Conway 
and its citizens to accept the street and drainage system on Jenkins Field Road. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Conway, South 
Carolina to accept road right of way and drainage on the above stated Jenkins Field 
Road from Jenkins Properties, LLC as presented in the deed and easement signed 
by Hunter Jenkins, representative of Jenkins Properties, LLC. 

RATIFIED BY CITY COUNCIL, duly assembled, this day of 
_______________________, 2024. 

Barbara Jo Blain, Mayor Larry A. White, Mayor Pro Tem 

Amanda Butler, Council Member William M. Goldfinch IV, Council Member 

Julie Ann Hardwick, Council Member Beth Helms, Council Member 

Justin D. Jordan, Council Member ATTEST:   Alicia Shelley, City Clerk 

15
April

36



37



38



39



 
 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  )  R  E  S  O  L  U  T  I  O  N  
COUNTY OF HORRY   ) 
CITY OF CONWAY    ) 
     
 

Honoring the Works and Accomplishments of  
Coastal Carolina University Baseball’s   

 
COACH GARY GILMORE 

 
 
WHEREAS,  Coach Gary Gilmore led the Chanticleers through more than eleven hundred (1,100) wins; 

and,  
     
WHEREAS,  Over his twenty-eight years at CCU, Coach Gilmore has averaged thirty-eight (38) wins 

per season, representing sixty-five (65) percent of games played.  Coach Gilmore’s team 
enjoyed fifteen seasons with 40+ wins and five seasons with 50+ wins; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  Coach Gilmore has led Chanticleer Baseball to eighteen (18) NCAA Tournaments, thirteen 

(13) regular season conference titles, thirteen (13) conference tournament titles, and a 
College World Series berth; and, 

 
WHEREAS,  In 2016, Coastal Carolina University’s baseball team became champions of the College 

World Series under the tutelage of Coach Gilmore; and 
 
WHEREAS,  In that same year, Coach Gary Gilmore was named the National Coach of the Year; and, 
 
WHEREAS, Other accolades granted to Coach Gilmore while at Coastal Carolina University include 

2005 and 2016 American Baseball Coaches’ Association’s (ABCA) Atlantic Region Coach 
of the Year designations, two-time Sun Belt Coach of the Year, and nine-time Big South 
Coach of the Year; and 

 
WHEREAS, Coach Gary Gilmore was inducted into the American Baseball Coaches Association Hall 

of Fame; and, 
 
WHEREAS, Throughout his years of service to Coastal Carolina University, Coach Gilmore also gave 

unselfish service to many organizations including the Miracle League, ALL 4 PAWS, and 
HTC Reel Kids. 

 
THEREFORE, fully acknowledging the invaluable expertise and heart exhibited by Coach Gary Gilmore 

at Coastal Carolina University, we do, therefore, designate Saturday, April 27, 2024, as        
 

COACH GARY GILMORE DAY 
 

in the City of Conway, South Carolina. 
 
RATIFIED BY CITY COUNCIL, duly assembled, this 15th day of April 2024. 

 

     
Barbara Jo Blain, Mayor  Larry White, Mayor Pro Tem 
 
  
     
Amanda Butler, Council Member   William M. Goldfinch IV, Council Member 

 
  
     
Julie Hardwick, Council Member  Beth Helms, Council Member 
        
 
    
Justin Jordan, Council Member  ATTEST:   Alicia Shelley, City Clerk 
 
 

40



March 18, 2024 
 

  CITY OF CONWAY 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

CONWAY CITY HALL 
229 MAIN STREET, CONWAY 

MONDAY, MARCH 18, 2024 - 4:00 P.M. 
   

PRESENT:  Mayor Barbara Jo Blain, Mayor Pro Tem Larry White, Amanda Butler, William 
Goldfinch, Julie Hardwick, Beth Helms, Justin Jordan.   
 
STAFF:  Adam Emrick, City Administrator; Mary Catherine Hyman, Deputy City Administrator; 
John Rogers, Deputy City Administrator; June Wood, Public Information Officer; Jeff Leveille, 
Technology Services Director; Timmy Williams, Hospitality & Beautification Director; Reggie 
Jenerette, Solid Waste Director; Lynn Smith, Human Resource Director; Rock Rabon, Fleet 
Maintenance Director; Jessica Hucks, Planning and Development Director; Le Hendrick, Fire 
Chief; Ashley Smith, Recreation Director; Dale Long, Police Chief; Ted Dudley, Public Utilities 
Deputy Director; Robert Cooper, Construction Services Director; Brandon Harrelson, Public 
Works Director; Katie Dennis, Planning Concierge; Allison Williams, Finance Director; James 
Friday, Pubic Utilities Director; Kayla Fleming, Municipal Judge; and Alicia Shelley, City Clerk.  
 
OTHERS:  Priscilla Fuller, Ronald Matta.  There were approximately 30 others in attendance.   
    
CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Blain called the meeting to order.  Rev. Robert Bannan, Kingston 
Presbyterian gave the invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
The requirements for posting notice of this meeting under South Carolina’s Freedom of 
Information Act (FOIA) were met. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA: 
 

A. Final Reading of Ordinance #ZA2024-03-18 (A) to amend the Future Land Use Map 
(2019-2029) (FLUM) of the City of Conway Comprehensive Plan, relative to property 
located near the corner of Highway 501 (Church St) and Mill Pond Road (PIN 338-
10-01-0015), consisting of a total of 8.96 acres, from the Conservation Preservation 
(CP) district to the Highway Commercial (HC) and Conservation Preservation (CP) 
districts.  

 
B. Final Reading of Ordinance #ZA2024-03-18 (D) to annex approximately 11.53 acres 

of property located at/near the intersection of Gardner Lacy Road and Highway 501 
(PIN 399-00-00-0403), and rezone from the Horry County Highway Commercial 
(HC) district to the City of Conway Highway Commercial (HC) district.  

 
C. Approval of Mutual Aid and Law Enforcement Support Agreement with the City of 

North Myrtle Beach  
 

D. Approval of Special Event – Family Fun Day – June 15, 2024 
 

E. Approval of Memorandum of Understanding with the South Carolina Fire Academy 
 

41



March 18, 2024 
 

F. Approval of February 19, 2024 Council Meeting Minutes 
 

G. Approval of FY 2024-2025 Budget Retreat Minutes 
 
APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA:  Motion:  White made a motion, seconded by Butler 
to approve the March 18, 2024 consent agenda.  Vote:  Unanimous.  Motion carried. 
 
PUBLIC INPUT: 
 

- Thessalonia Graham, Kingston Lake Missionary Baptist Association spoke to Council 
regarding property at Grainger Road, Highway 378 and Rose Hill and said that the 
Association supported Parkers Kitchen being at this location.  Graham then said that after 
reading the newspaper article, he felt Council was unethical with their decision and that 
Parker’s Kitchen had pulled out of the deal.   

- Ron Matta told Council that he was opposed to the Warden Tract Annexation and that he 
was told that this property would not be annexed into the City.   

- Priscilla Fuller spoke to Council regarding Council’s decision to put the Whittemore Task 
Force on hold and asked them to reconsider.  Fuller said that she supported the Hate Crime 
Law.  Fuller then said she would like for Council to be more inclusive with the Invocation 
at City Council meetings.   

- Carolyn Hickman Williams informed Council that she was disappointed in the pause of the 
Whittemore Task Force and asked Council to share the details of their decision.  

- Marvin Neal, 3rd Vice President of SC State Conference NAACP asked Council to support 
the Hate Crime in the form of an Ordinance, instead of a Resolution.   
 

There was no further public input.  Motion:  Blain made a motion, seconded by Hardwick, to close 
public input.  Vote:  Unanimous.  Motion carried. 
 
SPECIAL PRESENTATION: 
 

A. Presentation of Longevity Awards – February 2024 – 5 Years:  Corina Goodson, 
Hospitality and Beautification; 10 Years:  Christopher Price, Fire – Emrick and 
Helms presented the February 2024 Longevity Awards.   
 

B. Presentation of Employee of the Month for March 2024 – Public Safety – Hendrick 
presented Christopher Price with Public Safety Employee of the Month for March 2024. 
 

PUBLIC HEARING AND FIRST READING: 
 

A. First Reading and Public Hearing of Ordinance #ZA2024-04-15 (A) to amend the 
City’s Future Land Use Map (FLUM) of the City of Conway Comprehensive Plan, 
relative to property located on Sixth Ave (PIN 338-13-03-0006), consisting of 
approximately 0.31 acres, from the Low/Medium-Density (R-1) district to the 
Professional (P) district.  Hucks stated that the Future Land Use Map was adopted in 
2019 in conjunction with the Land Use Element of the Comprehensive Plan. When 
reviewing and considering requests for annexation and/or rezoning, staff must consider 
the use that is designated on the future land use map for the subject property. When a 
request for rezoning does not align with the use specified on the future land use map, the 

42



March 18, 2024 
 

map must be updated to reflect the change.  This particular property, located on Sixth 
Ave, is currently zoned R-1, Low/Medium Density Residential, and the City’s current 
future land use map also identifies the future land use as R-1.  The property is located 
directly behind the old Barker’s gas & service station, which is zoned Neighborhood 
Commercial (NC). There are 2 properties that abut this property with frontage on Main 
Street and before you get to Kingston Lake Drive, already zoned Professional (P). 
Additionally, there are other properties that do not have direct frontage on Main Street 
that are zoned Professional, including 7th Avenue, 9th Avenue, Lakewood Avenue, and 
13th Avenue.  The Professional zoning district allows both commercial and residential 
uses, and some properties in this area that have either been used both residentially and 
commercially, or that are set up for residential or commercial use.  The subject property 
is abutting 2 other properties that are already zoned Professional. The applicants would 
like to amend the future land use map so that they may request to rezone the property to 
the Professional district.  Amendments to the Comprehensive Plan, including 
amendments to the future land use map, require a 30-day notice in advance of a public 
hearing. The request has been properly advertised for a public hearing for today’s 
meeting.  Planning Commission also held a public hearing on the request at their March 
7th meeting, and recommended approval of the request to amend the Future Land Use 
Map. 
 
There was no public input.  
 
Motion:  White made a motion, seconded by Goldfinch to close the Public Hearing.  Vote:  
Unanimous.  Motion carried. 
 
Motion:  Goldfinch made a motion, seconded by Blain to deny first reading of Ordinance 
#ZA2024-04-15 (A).  Vote:  Unanimous.  Motion carried. 

 
FIRST READING: 
 

A. First Reading of Ordinance #ZA2024-04-15 (B) to rezone approximately 0.31 acres 
of property (PIN 338-13-03-0006) located on Sixth Ave from the Low/Medium-
Density Residential (R-1) district to the Professional (P) district. 
 
Goldfinch stated that this parcel encroaches into the residential neighborhood, and he can 
see all properties directly fronting Main Street eventually become Professional but not 
parcels behind those.  
 
Motion:  Blain made a motion, seconded by Jordan to deny first reading of Ordinance 
#ZA2024-04-15 (B).  Vote:  Unanimous.  Motion carried. 
 

CONSIDERATION: 
 

A. Consideration of approval of a name for a new residential development, located on 
Collins Jollie Rd – “Maple Grove” - Hucks stated that the proposed development is 
located on Collins Jollie Road, and make up Tracts E, F, and G of the Collins Jollie 
Conservation Subdivision Master Plan. The Collins Jollie Conservation Subdivision 
Master Plan was approved in 2022, and since that time, Tracts A, C and D have received 

43



March 18, 2024 
 

preliminary plan approval. These tracts (E, F, and G) are now going through the 
Technical Review Process.  Article 10, Section 10.3.18 of the Unified Development 
Ordinance requires that all subdivision names be approved by City Council.  Hucks said 
that staff recommends approval of the proposed subdivision name.  

 
Motion:  Goldfinch made a motion, seconded by White, to approve Maple Grove as the 
name of the residential development.  Vote:  Unanimous.  Motion carried. 

 
B. Consideration of a Special Event – Halloween Hustle - October 19, 2024 – Smith 

informed Council that this was the Third Annual Halloween Hustle and would be held on 
October 19, the same day as the CCU Homecoming Parade.  Smith said that the routes had 
changed and there would be 3 races, a 10K, 5K and a mile run.   
 
Motion:  Blain made a motion, seconded by Hardwick, to approve the special event 
permit as presented.  Vote:  Unanimous.  Motion carried. 
 

C. Consideration of a Special Event - Easter Egg Drop – March 30, 2024 – Rogers 
informed Council that the Easter Egg Drop would be held at Langston Baptist Church 
property on March 30.  A helicopter will drop 5,000 eggs from the sky.  The event will be 
held on the church’s soccer field and parking lot.   
 
Motion:  Blain made a motion, seconded by Jordan to approve the special event permit 
as presented.  Vote:  Unanimous.  Motion carried. 

 
D. Consideration of a Special Event – Stations of the Cross – March 29, 2024 – Rogers 

informed Council that the Catholic Church of St. James would be holding Stations of the 
Cross on March 29.  The procession will line up at the old tennis center.  Roads impacted 
include Elm Street, Second Avenue, and Laurel Street.  Ther will be 11 altar-like stands 
that will be spread along Laurel Street, Horry County Government property and Second 
Avenue with the group stopping at each alter for 10-15 minutes.   
 
Motion:  Goldfinch made a motion, seconded by White to approve the special event 
permit as presented.  Vote:  Unanimous.  Motion carried. 
 

E. Consideration of a Resolution Encouraging the South Carolina General Assembly 
and Governor to Enact a Statewide Hate Crime Law – Rogers stated that during 
previous discussions, council has expressed the desire to formally encourage the state to 
pass hate crime legislation.  South Carolina is one of only two states in the US with no 
formal hate crime legislation.  Rogers said that staff drafted a Resolution encouraging the 
South Carolina General Assembly and Governor to enact a statewide hate crime law.   
 
White said that he would like to see the league of cities write to the Governor.   
 
There was a brief discussion regarding a City Ordinance and the limitations of Municipal 
Court versus state law.   
 

44



March 18, 2024 
 

Motion:  Goldfinch made a motion, seconded by Blain to approve the resolution 
encouraging the South Carolina General Assembly and Governor to enact a statewide 
hate crime law.  Vote:  Unanimous.  Motion carried. 
 

CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT: 
 
Emrick informed Council of the following: 

• The Waccamaw Sportsman’s Expo is this Friday and Saturday, and Emrick said that if 
you’ve not been to an Expo before, you don’t want to miss it. 

• Conway High School and most of the County schools will hold their prom next week, on 
Thursday the 28th.  Conway High’s is at the Peanut Warehouse this year.  Expect to see 
lots of kids downtown looking spiffy and getting their pictures taken. 

• Emrick invited everyone to Conway High’s Boys’ soccer match tonight against Green 
Sea Floyds.  Tonight is 80’s night at the Backyard!  7:15 is gametime.  Emrick promised 
that you will experience high school soccer in a different way if you attend. 

• Emrick said that tonight, we do have department head reports from Ashley Smith and 
Chief Le Hendrick.   

 
Fire Department – Hendrick reported the following: 
 
Department Update  

• Fully staffed since March 2023 
• 18,723 hours of training in 2023 

o Does not include the Command Staff  
• Training Center has been used several times. 

o Logged about 80 hours of use at the facility since August 2023 
• Fire Apparatus order – Delivery September 2026 
• SAFER grant – Application period is open. 

 
Call Volume 

• 3,795 Incidents in 2022  
• 3,879 Incidents in 2023   

o 2.21% increase  
 
EMT Update  

• 31 of 42 current EMTs  
• 3 currently in class  
• 3 possibly slated to go next (no date)  

 
Risk Management 

• Working on an annual update to the Safety Manual 
 
Emergency Management  

• Reviewing the EOP for annual update(s) 
• New evacuation zones 
• Cone of uncertainty will now include island areas versus just coastal areas.  

45



March 18, 2024 
 

• Hurricane Idalia full EOC activation in August 
o Trying to get that claim paid and closed out. 
o Federal declaration for overtime costs  

• Two partial EOC activations in winter 
o December & January 
o No declarations  

Recreation Department – Smith reported the following: 
 
Sports and Fitness Center: 
 
Memberships 

• During the month of February, we signed 94 new memberships.  
• For the month of February, the Sports and Fitness Center has sold:  

o Guest Passes (With a member) ($7): 60 
o “Try Us Out” One Day Passes (Without a member) ($10): 128 
o Youth Drop-in Day Pass: 641 
o Youth Membership: 123 
o Total Members: 2857 

 
Aquatics 

• Total # of Patrons: 2,713 
o TigerSharks Swim Team have continued to have swim practice. We have a total of 35 

swimmers from 5-18 years old.  
o February 10th the TigerSharks hosted their 1st Annual Conway Medical Center 

Invitational. Myrtle Beach, North Myrtle Beach, and Georgetown YMCA attended the 
meet. Ribbons were given to the top five swimmers in each event. Each swimmer was 
also awarded a Conway Medical Center Swim Cap.  

o The Aquatics Dept. hosted a Fitter and Faster Swim Clinic. The clinic was open to all 
our local swim programs. From varsity swim, recreation swim, and US Masters swim. 
The clinicians were Olympian Iago Moussalem, and Olympic Qualifier Bailey Nero. 
We had 26 swimmers who attended (that was the max), and we have received 
wonderful feedback.  

 
Parks and Recreation: 

Community Events 
• February 15 was Family Fun Night at Whittemore Park Middle with Zumba Class at 6 

p.m. 
• February 3 was the Backpack giveaway with 150, Bethel AE Church gave 100. 
• Beginner Pickleball Classes – 332 participants 

 

Parks 
• New benches and concrete bench pads have been installed at Collins Park.   
• We have parks with playgrounds, and parks with plenty of open space. 

 

Athletics 

46



March 18, 2024 
 

• Soccer, Baseball, Softball – 1366 participant with 1364 last year 
• Spring Sports Jamboree will be April 6 at the Billy Gardner sports complex. Coach Kevin 

Schnall, Chauncey and members of the 13th ranked CCU baseball team will be our guests. 
This will also be picture day and Spring Yard Sale.  

Sports Tourism Report 
• 22 Baseball tournaments with the last one scheduled for November 23 
• This past weekend we had 36 teams from SC, NC, and Georgia competing at the Billy 

Gardner Sports Complex.  
• Hosting the SC State Gymnastics Championships April 4-7 
• Hosting La Lucha Lebre Mexican Wrestling April 21 
• We are currently working with CCU to determine the economic impact these events have 

on the city. The one concern so far is limited hotels in the Conway area. These teams stay 
in the MB/NMB area.  

 
Programs 

• March 22 – Floating Egg Hunt 
• March 23 – Easter Egg Hunt 
• March 23 – Sensory Friendly Egg Hunt 
• March 28 – Teen Egg Hunt 
• April 1-4 – Spring Break Camp  
• Summer Day Camp is full. 

 
COUNCIL INPUT:  
 
Butler said that she wants to make sure that Council is being as transparent as possible regarding 
the Whittemore Task Force Committee with the public as well as the members of the task force in 
the decision making and the direction of where the task force is going.  Butler said that she knows 
individual members were contacted but the public may possibly be unaware of how everything 
transpired.  
 
White said that he was accused of having something to do with the dissolving of the sale of the 
Baptist Church and stated that he had nothing to do with the sale of it, and that his concern with it 
was that the group brought back an exit route to get back to 378.  White said he was concerned 
about the safety of the kids, the two new houses that were just built to make sure that they did not 
go back to the right to Smith Jones.  White stated again that he had nothing to do with Parkers 
Kitchen getting out of the deal and wanted all to hear it from him.   
 
Goldfinch said he wanted to piggyback on White’s comment, as he was not at the last meeting, 
but it was his understanding that it was deferred.  Goldfinch then encouraged the applicant to go 
back after Parker’s Kitchen as he said he would love to have one there, perhaps the logistics do 
have to get worked out.  Goldfinch said that this Council has spent hundreds of thousands of dollars 
purchasing property on Highway 378 in the last few years to enhance the quality, and in some 
cases to clean up things that needed to be cleaned up, and when you have an organization like that 
comes in and puts millions of dollars on a corner to make it look good.  Goldfinch said that he 
thinks is going to happen is it will encourage the owners of the surrounding properties to do the 
same thing and he said that he sees it as an economic development opportunity for that stretch of 

47



March 18, 2024 
 
378.  Goldfinch said that would have been his pitch had he been here the other night, but he wasn’t.  
Goldfinch then said that the mayor said we do not interact during public input, so he said that he 
could not say what he really wanted to say.  Goldfinch said that we live in a growing area and with 
that comes constraints and with that comes new challenges.  Goldfinch said that it is frustrating 
when it seems to come from groups of people who have just moved here.  Goldfinch said taxes are 
not going up because a lifelong resident should not have to subsidize growth and that is why 
Council did what we did in a way to ensure by using the Planned Development that we would be 
compensated for this additional growth.  Goldfinch said that the city was going to receive money 
from this development to not put that burden on the backs of the citizens that have been paying 
their share for decades.    
 
Jordan said that he would not repeat everything that Goldfinch said but agreed.  Jordan then told 
White happy birthday.  
 
Hardwick said that she loves coming over the bridge and seeing the easter eggs in the trees and 
the Happy Easter sign, as it totally made her afternoon.  Hardwick then said a job well done.  
Hardwick said that looking at the good in the community, CCU Baseball is ranked 13th in the 
Nation as that is huge for our community, economic development, and to bring students into our 
area.  Hardwick said as we continue to work and grow to retain people and have them invest into 
our community and our creative eggs in the trees that help keep students and families want to stay 
and move here.  Hardwick thanked Hendrick for the EMT certifications as she witnessed it 
firsthand with a neighbor, and it was great to see them working quickly and efficiently to provide 
the aid that was needed to the patient.  Hardwick said she is looking forward to all the activities 
that Smith spoke about at the Recreation Center and it is great that there are so many of our young 
people in those activities and to see it grow and grow.  Hardwick then told White, happy birthday.    
 
Blain said that regarding the Whittemore Task Force she is all about being transparent, and she 
said that she didn’t know how but to sit today and say that it was not anyone’s intention that the 
news got out before Council got out to say anything about it, as it was intended to be a pause that 
has to do with some clear lines of communication that have not been utilized.  Blain said that she 
thinks that the task force and the city have different sets of ideas with what is available, what can 
happen in the timeframe, and said that she tried her best personally to invite members to the task 
force.  What council learned as the direction is outside the ream of what the city thinks is possible 
in any reasonable amount of time.  The possibility of having a staff person present was determined 
to be not essential to the task force but could have kept everyone in the same line of thinking.  
Blain stated that she is total transparent and doesn’t know who said it was the breaking up of the 
organization, as Council only said to pause. Blain said she doesn’t get to say what happens as she 
is one of seven and it takes a majority of the council votes to make any plan in the decision making.  
Council just needed to take the time to determine where we are going.  Blain said about Parkers 
Kitchen that there is nothing unethical about just trying to make sure that our children are safe.  
Blain stated that Council did not deny the sale or designation of what could be had on that property.  
Blain said that she said to everyone that she was talking out of both sides of her mouth, and was 
concerned with things like a daycare, children walking unsupervised, a cemetery, a playground so 
close by, and that is within the realm of her responsibility.  Blain said that on the other side she 
said that she did want development such as that in the community and that we needed to work it 
out to make that happen.  Blain said that nothing here is unethical as she doesn’t get anything out 
of allowing Parkers Kitchen to be here or disallowing Parkers Kitchen to come and we just simply 
needed to work out some things with them, and pulling away is not our doing. Blain then said that 

48



March 18, 2024 

she is extremely excited about all the events that are coming in our community, and that they serve 
the best interest of our community broadly, particularly our children whom we should keep in the 
forefront of our minds. 

Blain then asked everyone to join in singing Happy Birthday to White. 

ADJOURNMENT:  Motion: Goldfinch made a motion, seconded by Jordan to adjourn the 
meeting.  Vote:  Unanimous. Motion carried. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  Minutes approved by City Council this             day of 
    , 2024. 

__________________________ 
    Alicia Shelley, City Clerk 

15
April

49



 

DATE:  APRIL 15, 2024 
ITEM:  VI.A. 

 
 

 

Presentation of a Proclamation Declaring April as Autism Acceptance Month 

 

50



 

DATE:  APRIL 15, 2024 
ITEM:  VI.B.  

 
 

 

Presentation of Public Service Employee of the Month for April 2024 

 

51



           DATE:  APRIL 15, 2024 
           ITEM:  VII.  
 

ISSUE: 
First Reading of Ordinance #ZA2024-05-06 to annex approximately 0.34 acres located at 5204 
Columbia Street (PIN 383-08-03-0003), and rezone from the Horry County Residential District (SF 10), 
no mobile homes allowed to the City of Conway Low/Medium Residential (R-1) district. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The annexation application was submitted by Kevin Kording on March 7, 2024, as a requirement to 
connect to water and/or sewer utilities. According to Horry County Land Records, the property was 
transferred into the applicant’s name on February 26, 2021. The property is within the College Park 
subdivision, located off Hwy 501. There is an existing single-family residence and storage building on 
the property. Restrictive covenants were recorded for this property, on March 1, 2021.  
 

Council has annexed approximately eleven properties within the College Park Subdivision. 
 
CITY OF CONWAY COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: 
The Future Land Use Map of the Comprehensive Plan identifies this parcel as Low/Medium Density 
Residential (R-1). 
 
The intent of the R-1 District is to provide for the preservation and expansion of areas for low to medium 
density, detached single-family residential development in the City of Conway. The district shall present 
a relatively spacious character, promote quiet, livable neighborhoods, and prohibit uses that are 
incompatible with the residential nature of the surrounding area. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of First Reading of Ordinance #ZA2024-05-06.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

52



ORDINANCE #ZA2024-05-06 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO ANNEX APPROXIMATELY 0.34 ACRES OF PROPERTY 
LOCATED    AT 5204 COLUMBIA STREET (PIN 383-08-03-0003), AND REQUEST TO 

REZONE FROM THE HORRY COUNTY RESIDENTIAL, NO MOBILE HOMES 
ALLOWED, (SF10) DISTRICT TO THE CITY OF CONWAY LOW/MEDIUM DENSITY 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT (R-1) DISTRICT. 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CONWAY:  

 
SECTION 1. FINDINGS: 
A petition has been submitted to the City Council of the City of Conway to annex approximately 0.34 
acres of property described herein and represented on a map. The City Council of the City of Conway 
has determined that the annexation of this area into the City of Conway will be to the advantage of the 
municipality. 

 
The area proposed for annexation is adjacent to the present City limits. The petition for annexation of 
land and declared zoning is hereby accepted by the governing body of the municipality of Conway, 
and made a part of the City of Conway, South Carolina, to wit: 

 
ALL AND SINGULAR, those certain parcels, lots, or tracts of land in Conway Township, County 
and    State aforesaid, containing approximately 0.34 acres of property located at 5204 Columbia Street 
(PIN 383-08-03-0003), and request to rezone from the Horry County Residential, no mobile homes 
allowed (SF10) district to the City of Conway Low/Medium Residential (R-1) district. 

 
This annexation includes all waterways, roads, and rights-of-way adjacent to the property. For a 
more specific description of said property, see attached map. 

 
SECTION 2. APPLICATION OF ZONING ORDINANCE: 
The property is admitted as City of Conway Low/Medium Density Residential District (R-1) 
area       under the zoning laws of the municipality. 

 
SECTION 3. EFFECTIVE DATE: 
The annexation is effective as of the date of the final reading of this Ordinance. 

 
AND BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED that such changes shall be made on the Official Zoning Map. 
All ordinances or parts of ordinances inconsistent with this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent 
of such inconsistency. 

53



RATIFIED BY CITY COUNCIL, duly assembled, this day of 
  , 2024. 

 
 
 
Barbara Jo Blain, Mayor Larry A. White, Mayor Pro Tem 

 
 
 
Amanda Butler, Council Member William M. Goldfinch IV, Council Member 

 
 
 
Julie Ann Hardwick, Council Member Beth Helms, Council Member 
 
 

              
Justin D. Jordan, Council Member ATTEST: Alicia Shelley, City Clerk 

 
 
 
First Reading:     

 

Final Reading:    
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

54



COLUMBIA ST

WAKE FOREST RD

CONVERSE DR

PRESBYTERIAN DR

Date: 3/8/2024  Time: 8:40:44 AM  Path: \\Coc-srv2\4310\ANNEXATIONS\!R1 ANNEXATIONS\2024\5204 Columbia Street\GIS\ZOOMED IN AERIAL MAP FOR 5204 COLUMBIA ST.mxd

PIN #: 383-08-03-0003
TMS #: 151-18-10-002

5204 COLUMBIA ST
(P24-0053)³

Disclaimer: This map is a 
graphic representation
only. It is NOT a survey.
All efforts have been
made to ensure its accuracy.
However, the City of Conway
disclaims all responsibility &
liability for the use of this map.

(843) 488-9888 ph (843) 488-9890 fax

2940 JERRY BARNHILL BLVD - CONWAY, SC 29527

Legend
PARCELS

PIN #: 383-08-03-0003

55



HWY 501

UNIVERSITY BLVD
CHANTICLEER DR

CAROLINA RD

CONVERSE DR

DAVIDSON RD

PRESBYTERIAN DR

ALLIED DR

YAUPON DR

WAKE FOREST RD

COLUMBIA ST

HUSTED RD

TOWNSHIP CIR
SALEM ST

HORRY-GEORGETOWN BLVD

HICKS CIR

INDEPENDENCE DR

DE
ST

INY
 LN

CLEMSON RD

SPADONI PARK CIRCLE

EVERGREEN LN

HWY 501

Date: 3/8/2024  Time: 8:40:02 AM  Path: \\Coc-srv2\4310\ANNEXATIONS\!R1 ANNEXATIONS\2024\5204 Columbia Street\GIS\ZOOMED OUT AERIAL MAP FOR 5204 COLUMBIA ST.mxd

PIN #: 383-08-03-0003
TMS #: 151-18-10-002

5204 COLUMBIA ST
(P24-0053)³

Disclaimer: This map is a 
graphic representation
only. It is NOT a survey.
All efforts have been
made to ensure its accuracy.
However, the City of Conway
disclaims all responsibility &
liability for the use of this map.

(843) 488-9888 ph (843) 488-9890 fax

2940 JERRY BARNHILL BLVD - CONWAY, SC 29527

Legend
PARCELS

PIN #: 383-08-03-0003

56



GR

GR HC HC

PUD

SF 10

SF 10

SF 10

HC

SF 10
SF 10

GR
GR

SF 10

SF 10
SF 10

SF 10

SF 10

SF 10

SF 10

SF 10

SF 10

SF 10

SF 10

SF 10

SF 6

SF 10
SF 10

HWY 501

UNIVERSITY BLVD
CHANTICLEER DR

CAROLINA RD

DAVIDSON RD

PRESBYTERIAN DR

ALLIED DR

YAUPON DR

WAKE FOREST RD

COLUMBIA ST

HUSTED RD

SALEM ST

HORRY-GEORGETOWN BLVD

HICKS CIR

INDEPENDENCE DR

DE
ST

INY
 LN

SPADONI PARK CIRCLE

EVERGREEN LN

HWY 501

Date: 3/8/2024  Time: 8:36:47 AM  Path: \\Coc-srv2\4310\ANNEXATIONS\!R1 ANNEXATIONS\2024\5204 Columbia Street\GIS\ZONING MAP FOR 5204 COLUMBIA ST.mxd

PIN #: 383-08-03-0003
TMS #: 151-18-10-002

5204 COLUMBIA ST
(P24-0053)³

Disclaimer: This map is a 
graphic representation
only. It is NOT a survey.
All efforts have been
made to ensure its accuracy.
However, the City of Conway
disclaims all responsibility &
liability for the use of this map.

(843) 488-9888 ph (843) 488-9890 fax

2940 JERRY BARNHILL BLVD - CONWAY, SC 29527

CONWAY ZONING
RA

RR

R

R1

R2

R3

R4

P

IN

NC

HC

CC

CBD

LI

HI

FA

CP

WRD1

WRD2

PD

MU

MM

IC

COUNTY ZONING

PARCELS

XX

PIN #: 383-08-03-0003

57



HWY 501

UNIVERSITY BLVD
CHANTICLEER DR

CAROLINA RD

CONVERSE DR

DAVIDSON RD

PRESBYTERIAN DR

ALLIED DR

YAUPON DR

WAKE FOREST RD

COLUMBIA ST

HUSTED RD

TOWNSHIP CIR
SALEM ST

HORRY-GEORGETOWN BLVD

HICKS CIR

INDEPENDENCE DR

DE
ST

INY
 LN

CLEMSON RD

SPADONI PARK CIRCLE

EVERGREEN LN

HWY 501

Date: 3/8/2024  Time: 8:37:44 AM  Path: \\Coc-srv2\4310\ANNEXATIONS\!R1 ANNEXATIONS\2024\5204 Columbia Street\GIS\FUTURE LAND USE MAP FOR 5204 COLUMBIA ST.mxd

PIN #: 383-08-03-0003
TMS #: 151-18-10-002

5204 COLUMBIA ST
(P24-0053)³

Disclaimer: This map is a 
graphic representation
only. It is NOT a survey.
All efforts have been
made to ensure its accuracy.
However, the City of Conway
disclaims all responsibility &
liability for the use of this map.

(843) 488-9888 ph (843) 488-9890 fax

2940 JERRY BARNHILL BLVD - CONWAY, SC 29527

PIN #: 383-08-03-0003

FUTURE LAND USE
CONSERVATION PRESERVATION

DOWNTOWN HISTORIC DISTRICT

FOREST AGRICULTURE

HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL

HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL

INDUSTRIAL

INSTITUTIONAL

LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL

MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL

MIXED USE

NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL

PLANNED DISTRICT

PROFESSIONAL

RECREATIONAL

RURAL RESIDENTIAL

UTILITY

PARCELS

58



HWY 501

UNIVERSITY BLVD
CHANTICLEER DR

CAROLINA RD

CONVERSE DR

DAVIDSON RD

PRESBYTERIAN DR

ALLIED DR

YAUPON DR

WAKE FOREST RD

COLUMBIA ST

HUSTED RD

TOWNSHIP CIR
SALEM ST

HORRY-GEORGETOWN BLVD

HICKS CIR

INDEPENDENCE DR

DE
ST

INY
 LN

CLEMSON RD

SPADONI PARK CIRCLE

EVERGREEN LN

HWY 501

Date: 3/8/2024  Time: 8:39:12 AM  Path: \\Coc-srv2\4310\ANNEXATIONS\!R1 ANNEXATIONS\2024\5204 Columbia Street\GIS\FLOOD ZONE MAP FOR 5204 COLUMBIA ST.mxd

PIN #: 383-08-03-0003
TMS #: 151-18-10-002

5204 COLUMBIA ST
(P24-0053)³

Disclaimer: This map is a 
graphic representation
only. It is NOT a survey.
All efforts have been
made to ensure its accuracy.
However, the City of Conway
disclaims all responsibility &
liability for the use of this map.

(843) 488-9888 ph (843) 488-9890 fax

2940 JERRY BARNHILL BLVD - CONWAY, SC 29527

PIN #: 383-08-03-0003

REVISED 2019 FLOOD ZONES
0.2 PCT ANNUAL CHANCE FLOOD HAZARD

A

AE

VE

PARCELS

59



60



61



62



63



64



    DATE:  APRIL 15, 2024 
    ITEM:  VIII.A.  

ISSUE: 
A Resolution by City Council to authorize the fee-in-lieu of open space for the Chapman Village 
subdivision, located on Medlen Parkway (PIN 338-00-00-0003).  

BACKGROUND:   
The applicant, G3 Engineering (agent), is requesting approval to pay the fee in lieu of providing open 
space for the proposed Chapman Village subdivision, in accordance with Section 10.3.9, B.4 of the 
Unified Development Ordinance (UDO), which states that “if less than one (1) acre of open space is 
required for any major subdivision, the developer shall submit a fee in lieu of providing the open space” as 
described in Section 10.3.9, D. The proposed development received preliminary approval at the March 
7, 2024 Planning Commission meeting, contingent on also receiving TRC approval. The development 
will consist of 45 single-family lots.  

Per Section 10.3.9, E.2, “where payment of the fee-in-lieu of dedication of open space is proposed as 
permitted by this ordinance, the sub-divider or applicant shall provide to the City, at the sub-divider or 
applicant’s expense, a satisfactory, current written appraisal of the market value of the land to be annexed, 
zoned, platted, or developed, as if the subdivision, residential development, rezoning, or Planned Development 
District has been completed according to the plans submitted”.  

Under this requirement, the applicant is required to provide an appraisal that meets the intent stated in 
Section 10.3.9, E.2. The fee in lieu amount is determined by calculating the appraised value (as 
provided) divided by the total area in the subdivision or development and multiplying by the amount of 
open space that would otherwise be required. In this case, the applicant has provided an appraisal from 
a SC licensed real estate appraiser based on the assumption that all entitlements and permitting will be 
completed by May 2024 with a value of $1,350,000, which when divided by the total area of 11.83, 
totals approx. $114,117 per acre. The required amount of open space that would otherwise be required 
is 0.94 acres (45 lots x 2.6 x 0.008). Therefore, the open space fee in lieu calculated (per the appraisal) 
is $107,269.65. 

The fee in lieu for consideration for Chapman Village is therefore $107,269.65. This fee would be 
required to be paid prior to the recording of any lots, in accordance with Section 10.3.9, E.7, as well as 
all other conditions of development be satisfied. Planning Commission is considering this amount at 
their April 11th meeting. Their recommendation will be provided during the April 15th Council 
meeting.  

RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval of the Resolution accepting the fee in lieu of open space for Chapman Village, in the amount 
of $107,269.65. 

65



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA       ) 
COUNTY OF HORRY ) RESOLUTION 
CITY OF CONWAY    ) 

Accepting the Fee in Lieu of Open Space at Chapman Village 

WHEREAS, The applicant, G3 Engineering (agent for Forestar Real Estate Group), has requested to 
pay a fee in lieu of installation of all required open space at Chapman Village 
subdivision; and  

WHEREAS, the required open space is 0.94 acres, which based upon a determination of the assumed 
fair market value of land at Chapman Village as provided by an SC Licensed Appraiser 
(in accordance with the requirements of the City of Conway Unified Development 
Ordinance UDO), is valued at $107,269.65; and 

WHEREAS, Conway City Council has determined it would be in the best interest of Conway and its 
citizens to accept the fee in lieu of the required open space in Chapman Village and 
accepts the payment of $107,269.65 to be utilized in existing or new parks per the 
Unified Development Ordinance (UDO). 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Conway, South 
Carolina to accept the fee in lieu of open space for $107,269.65. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Resolution is hereby adopted and made part of the City records this 
________ day of _________________, 2024. 

_________________________________            __________________________________ 
Barbara Jo Blain, Mayor Larry A. White, Mayor Pro Tem 

_________________________________             __________________________________ 
Amanda Butler, Council Member  William M. Goldfinch IV, Council Member 

_________________________________             __________________________________ 
Julie Ann Hardwick, Council Member Beth Helms, Council Member 

_________________________________             __________________________________ 
Justin D. Jordan, Council Member ATTEST:  Alicia Shelley, City Clerk 

15 April

66



From: Kurt A Sandness
To: Brady Gantt; Brandon Truesdale
Cc: Anna S Lewis; Patrick Zukowski
Subject: Chapman Village - Appraisal : Open Space Fee in Lieu Calculation
Date: Wednesday, March 27, 2024 2:20:57 PM
Attachments: 11.83± Acres on Medlen Pkwy, 24-0035.pdf

Brady…

Good Afternoon.  Attached is the appraisal for Chapman Village with an appraised value of $1,350,000
($30,000/Lot x 45 Lots).

Using the breakdown provided by Adam in his e-mail to you, this is our calculation of the Open Space Fee in
Lieu for confirmation by Adam / Jessica on behalf of the City of Conway based on the appraisal from Cox, Beall
& Associates:

$1,350,000 / 11.83 acres x .94 (open space required) = $107,269.65
or

$1,350,000 / 11.83 acres x .70 (open space required minus pond) = $79,881.66

What do you think is the timing in getting a response to this appraisal?

Kurt A. Sandness
Coastal Division – Division President
Charleston. Columbia. Myrtle Beach. Savannah/Hilton Head. Wilmington.

363 Wando Place Drive, Suite 201
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29464

d:  843.535.8191 
m: 843.708.5667 

Forestar.com

67

mailto:KurtSandness@forestar.com
mailto:Brady@g3engineering.org
mailto:brandon@g3engineering.org
mailto:AnnaLewis@forestar.com
mailto:PatrickZukowski@forestar.com
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.forestar.com_home_default.aspx&d=DwMFAw&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=JjH1hGId5s2tkV9vwGe5PE3-HM-3CpFGpLRbYKK3zDU&m=Gw9FjIRJbk9X6VNtbOjtuZUw6E-wGabrIE6IG59fIeNvl04edRU4paHsAkKnZpr9&s=LviTG40YJTueR5c7APgXgs-BZHjDXMaoaV4jfLu80ng&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.forestar.com_home_default.aspx&d=DwMFAw&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=JjH1hGId5s2tkV9vwGe5PE3-HM-3CpFGpLRbYKK3zDU&m=Gw9FjIRJbk9X6VNtbOjtuZUw6E-wGabrIE6IG59fIeNvl04edRU4paHsAkKnZpr9&s=LviTG40YJTueR5c7APgXgs-BZHjDXMaoaV4jfLu80ng&e=
https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__www.forestar.com_investor-2Dhome_news_press-2Drelease-2Ddetails_2022_Forestar-2Dis-2Dthe-2DOnly-2DResidential-2DCommunity-2DDeveloper-2Don-2DNewsweeks-2DAmericas-2DMost-2DTrusted-2DCompanies-2D2022-2DList_&d=DwMFAw&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=JjH1hGId5s2tkV9vwGe5PE3-HM-3CpFGpLRbYKK3zDU&m=Gw9FjIRJbk9X6VNtbOjtuZUw6E-wGabrIE6IG59fIeNvl04edRU4paHsAkKnZpr9&s=hqqhu0fQjfgNXsLAILI5kr-nWwdcWD-n9GKe1OqLFH8&e=



 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC   ●   3501 N. Kings Hwy., Suite 103-B   ●   Myrtle Beach, SC 29577 
Phone: 843-839-2700                Fax: 843-692-7656                 www.Cox-Beall.com 


 


Restricted Appraisal Report 
 
 
 
 
 


of 
 


11.83± Acres 
Medlen Parkway 


Conway, Horry County, SC 29526 
Tax Map Number 122-00-04-010 (PIN 33800000003) 


Our File# 24-0035 
 
 
 


for 
 


Forestar Real Estate Group – Coastal Division 
c/o Mr. Kurt A. Sandness, Division President & 


Ms. Anna S. Lewis, Entitlements Manager 
 
 
 
 


as of 
 


March 22, 2024 
 
 
 


by 
 


Corey L. Peters & Fred B. Beall, MRICS  
Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC 


3501 North Kings Highway, Suite 103-B 
Myrtle Beach, SC  29577 


 
 
 


Copyright © 2024 
Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC 


 
All rights reserved. No part of this document may be reproduced in any form or by any means, electronic or 


mechanical, including photocopying and recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system without 
permission in writing from Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC 







 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC   ●   3501 N. Kings Hwy., Suite 103-B   ●   Myrtle Beach, SC 29577 
Phone: 843-839-2700                Fax: 843-692-7656                 www.Cox-Beall.com 


 


March 27, 2024 
 
Forestar Real Estate Group – Coastal Division 
c/o Mr. Kurt A. Sandness, Division President & 
Ms. Anna S. Lewis, Entitlements Manager 
 
Re: Appraisal of 11.83± Acres  
 Medlen Parkway 
 Conway, Horry County, SC 29526 
 Tax Map Number 122-00-04-010 (PIN 33800000003) 
 Our File# 24-0035 
 
 
Attention Forestar Real Estate Group – Coastal Division: 
 
At your request, we inspected the above referenced property and researched and analyzed comparable 
market data for the purpose of forming an opinion of its “as is” market value as of March 22, 2024. 
Our value opinion is based on the extraordinary assumption that all entitlements and permitting for the 
proposed 45-lot subdivision will be completed by May 1, 2024. 
 
The subject of this appraisal is an 11.83± acre tract of residential land located on Medlen Parkway 
in the City of Conway, SC 29526. It is recognized by Horry County as tax map number 122-00-04-
010 (PIN 33800000003). The property has been engineered for the development of a 45-lot 
subdivision. As of the date of value, the client was reportedly in the last steps of the entitlement 
process, and they estimated it would be fully permitted and approved by May 1, 2024. 
 
To form our “as is” market value opinion of the subject property, we used a land sales comparison 
approach.  
 
A reasonable marketing time to sell the subject property at or near our opinion of market value is 
within twelve months if properly exposed to the open real estate market, and the exposure time 
for our analyses was estimated to have been twelve months. 
 
It is our understanding that this appraisal will aid in asset management decisions by Forestar Real 
Estate Group – Coastal Division. Any other use of this letter of transmittal or the attached report is 
forbidden without our written consent.  


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC 
Commercial Real Estate Appraisers & Consultants 


 
Charles A. Cox, MAI Laura Peters Lang Corey L. Peters 
Fred B. Beall, MRICS  T. Woods Brown 


  







 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC   ●   3501 N. Kings Hwy., Suite 103-B   ●   Myrtle Beach, SC 29577 
Phone: 843-839-2700                Fax: 843-692-7656                 www.Cox-Beall.com 


 


Page 2 
 
 
The attached appraisal report is intended to comply with the requirements set forth by the Uniform 
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) for appraisal reports. The appraisal 
assignment was not based on a requested minimum valuation, a specific valuation or the approval of 
a loan. To the best of our ability, this report has been made in compliance with USPAP, federal 
regulation 12 CFR Part 34 (Title XI of FIRREA) and the standards endorsed by the Appraisal 
Institute and the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors. 
 
As a result of our investigations and analyses of the data gathered with respect to this 
assignment, and based on the assumptions and limiting conditions included in the attached 
report, it is our opinion that the “as is” fee simple market value of the subject property, as of 
March 22, 2024, was: 
 


ONE MILLION THREE HUNDRED FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($1,350,000) 


Market Value “As Is” 
 
This market value opinion is based on the extraordinary assumption that all entitlements and 
permitting for the proposed 45-lot subdivision will be completed by about May 1, 2024. If this 
proves incorrect, our assignment results may need to be revisited.  
 
No assistance in completing this assignment was received by the undersigned from anyone other 
than the secretarial and research staff of Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC. The reported opinion of 
value was not based upon a requested minimum, maximum or specific valuation. 
 
If we can be of any further assistance or if there are any questions, please do not hesitate to 
contact us. Respectfully submitted,  
 
 
 
_______________________________         _____________________________  
Corey L. Peters     Fred B. Beall, MRICS  
Certified General Real Estate Appraiser  Certified General Real Estate Appraiser  
(SC# CG6813) (NC# A8403)    (SC# CG1490) (NC# A5741) 
 


 







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page i 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
CERTIFICATE OF THE APPRAISERS .......................................................................................................... ii 
ORDINARY ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS ................................................................ iii 
REPORTING OPTIONS .......................................................................................................................................iv 
COMPETENCY STATEMENT ............................................................................................................................ v 
SUBJECT PHOTOGRAPHS ...............................................................................................................................vi 


Identification of the Subject Property..................................................................................................... 1 
Identification of the Client ............................................................................................................................ 1 
Identification of the Intended Users ........................................................................................................ 1 
Purpose of the Appraisal and Use Restrictions .................................................................................. 1 
Property Interest Appraised ........................................................................................................................ 1 
Date of the Report ............................................................................................................................................ 1 
Effective Date of Value .................................................................................................................................. 1 
Assumptions and Limiting Conditions .................................................................................................... 2 
Definitions ............................................................................................................................................................ 2 


Extraordinary Assumption .................................................................................................................................. 2 
Hypothetical Condition......................................................................................................................................... 2 
Market Value ........................................................................................................................................................ 2 
Paper Lot .............................................................................................................................................................. 3 
Marketing Time .................................................................................................................................................... 3 
Exposure Time ...................................................................................................................................................... 3 
Fee Simple Interest/Estate .................................................................................................................................... 3 
Leased Fee Interest ............................................................................................................................................... 4 


Appraisal Procedures Followed ................................................................................................................. 4 
Location................................................................................................................................................................. 5 
Access ................................................................................................................................................................... 5 
Size and Shape .................................................................................................................................................. 5 
Soils ......................................................................................................................................................................... 7 
Zoning ..................................................................................................................................................................... 7 
Utilities and Services ...................................................................................................................................... 7 
Flood Zone ............................................................................................................................................................ 7 
Hazardous Materials and Wetlands .......................................................................................................... 7 
Easements and Encroachments ................................................................................................................ 8 
History of the Subject Property .................................................................................................................. 8 
Legal Description .............................................................................................................................................. 8 
Assessment and Taxes ................................................................................................................................. 8 
Scope of the Subject Appraisal .................................................................................................................. 8 


MARKET VALUE “AS IS” .................................................................................................................................. 10 
Land Sales Comparison Approach ........................................................................................................ 10 


Sale Price Per Entitled or Paper Lot .................................................................................................................. 18 
QUALIFICATIONS OF THE APPRAISER, Corey L. Peters............................................................... 20 
REAL ESTATE QUALIFICATIONS AND EDUCATION, Fred B. Beall, MRICS ............................. 22 


Online Property Record .............................................................................................................................. 24 
Online Tax Record & Payment History ............................................................................................... 25 


 







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page ii 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


CERTIFICATE OF THE APPRAISERS 
 
We certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief: 
 
 The statements of fact contained in this report are true and correct. 
 The reported analyses, opinions, and conclusions are limited only by the reported 


assumptions and limiting conditions are our personal, impartial and unbiased professional 
analyses, opinions, and conclusions. 


 We have no present or prospective interest in the property that is the subject of this report 
and no personal interest with respect to the parties involved. 


 We have no bias with respect to the property that is the subject of this report or to the 
parties involved with this assignment. 


 Our engagement in this assignment was not contingent upon developing or reporting 
predetermined results. 


 Our compensation for completing this assignment is not contingent upon the 
development or reporting of a predetermined value or direction in value that favors the 
cause of the client, the amount of the value opinion, the attainment of a stipulated result, 
or the occurrence of a subsequent event directly related to the intended use of this 
appraisal. 


 Our analyses, opinions, and conclusions were developed, and this report has been 
prepared, in conformity with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice, 
the Code of Professional Ethics, and the Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice of 
the Appraisal Institute. 


 The use of this report is subject to the requirements of the Appraisal Institute relating to 
review by its duly authorized representatives. 


 We certify that we have not appraised furnished any other services regarding the subject 
property within three years from the date of our client’s engagement.  


 Corey L. Peters made a personal inspection of the subject property.  
 As of the date of this report, Corey L. Peters is a Certified General Real Estate Appraiser 


(#CG6813) by the State of South Carolina and (#A8403) by the State of North Carolina. 
As of the date of this report, Fred B. Beall, MRICS, is a Certified General Real Estate 
Appraiser (#CG1490) by the State of South Carolina and (#A5741) by the State of North 
Carolina. 


 
 
 
_______________________________         _____________________________  
Corey L. Peters     Fred B. Beall, MRICS  
Certified General Real Estate Appraiser  Certified General Real Estate Appraiser  
(SC# CG6813) (NC# A8403)    (SC# CG1490) (NC# A5741) 
 


 
 
 
 







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page iii 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


ORDINARY ASSUMPTIONS AND LIMITING CONDITIONS 
 
This appraisal report has been made with the following general assumptions: 
 


1. No responsibility is assumed for the legal description or for matters including legal 
or title considerations. Title to the property is assumed to be good and marketable 
unless otherwise stated. 


2. The property is appraised free and clear of any or all liens or encumbrances unless 
otherwise stated. 


3. Responsible ownership and competent property management are assumed. 
4. The information furnished by others is believed to be reliable; however, no warranty 


is given for its accuracy. 
5. All engineering is assumed to be correct. The plot plans and/or illustrative material 


in this report are included only to assist the reader in visualizing the property. 
6. It is assumed that there are no hidden or unapparent conditions of the property, 


subsoil, or structures that render it more or less valuable. No responsibility is 
assumed for such conditions or for arranging for engineering studies that may be 
required to discover them. 


7. It is assumed that there is full compliance with all applicable federal, state, and local 
environmental regulations and laws unless noncompliance is stated, defined, and 
considered in the appraisal report. 


8. It is assumed that all applicable zoning and use regulations and restrictions have 
been complied with, unless non-conformity has been stated, defined, and considered 
in the appraisal report. 


9. It is assumed that all required licenses, certificates of occupancy, consents, or other 
legislative or administrative authority from any local, state, or national government 
or private entity or organization have been or can be obtained or renewed for any use 
on which the value estimate contained in this report is based. 


10. It is assumed that the utilization of the land and improvements is within the 
boundaries or property lines of the property described and that there is no 
encroachment or trespass unless noted in the report. 


 
 
This appraisal report has been made with the following general limiting conditions: 
 


1. The distribution, if any, of the total valuation in this report between land and 
improvements applies only under the stated program of utilization. The separate 
allocations for land and buildings must not be used in conjunction with any other 
appraisal and are invalid if so used. 


2. Possession of this report, or a copy thereof, does not carry with it the right of 
publication. 


3. The appraisers, by reason of this appraisal, are not required to give further 
consultation, testimony, or be in attendance in court with reference to the property in 
question unless arrangements have been previously made. 


4. Neither all nor any part of the contents of this report (especially any conclusions as 
to value, the identity of the appraisers, or the firm with which the appraisers are 
connected) shall be disseminated to the public through advertising, public relations, 







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page iv 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


news, sales, or other media without the prior written consent and approval of the 
appraisers. 


5. The appraisers have personally inspected the subject property and find no obvious 
evidence of structural deficiencies except as stated in this report; however, no 
responsibility for hidden defects or conformity to specific governmental 
requirements, such as fire, building and safety, earthquake, or occupancy codes, can 
be assumed without provision of specific professional or governmental inspections. 


6. Unless otherwise stated in this report, no termite inspection report was available, and 
the appraisers assumed the improvements, if any, to be free of infestation or damage 
caused by termites or other wood boring insects. 


7. Unless otherwise stated in this report, the existence of hazardous substances, 
including without limitation asbestos, polychlorinated biphenyls, petroleum leakage, 
or agricultural chemicals, which may or may not be present on the property, or other 
environmental conditions, were not called to the attention of nor did the appraisers 
become aware of such during the appraisers inspection. The appraisers have no 
knowledge of the existence of such materials on or in the property unless otherwise 
stated. The appraisers, however, are not qualified to test such substances or 
conditions. If the presence of such substances, such as asbestos, urea formaldehyde 
foam insulation, or other hazardous substances or environmental conditions, may 
affect the value of the property, the value estimated is predicated on the assumption 
that there is no such condition on or in the property or in such proximity thereto that 
it would cause a loss in value. No responsibility is assumed for any such conditions, 
or for any expertise or engineering knowledge required to discover them. 


8. The Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) became effective 1/26/1992. We 
have not made a specific compliance survey and analysis of this property to 
determine whether or not it is in conformity with the various detailed requirements 
of the ADA. It is possible that a compliance survey of the property, together with a 
detailed analysis of the requirements of the ADA, could reveal that the property is 
not in compliance with one or more of the requirements of the Act. If so, this fact 
could have a negative effect upon the subject’s value.  


9. Since we have no direct evidence relating to this issue, we did not consider possible 
non-compliance with the requirements of the ADA in estimating the value of the 
property. 


10. Wetlands legislation is ever changing and interpretations of their whereabouts are 
beyond the appraiser’s expertise. If wetlands exist and their impact on the value of 
the subject property are not discussed in this report, the value estimate for the subject 
will need to be reconsidered by the appraisers and the value conclusions contained 
herein are not applicable. 


 
 
REPORTING OPTIONS  
 
According to the 2020-2021 edition of the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice, 
there are two reporting options applicable to real property appraisals; (a) appraisal report and (b) 
restricted appraisal report. The report for this appraisal assignment was intended to be an 
appraisal report, as discussed on the next page. 







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page v 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


(a) Appraisal Report: The report must be consistent with the intended use of the 
appraisal and must clearly identify the client to avoid violations of the 
Confidentiality section of the Ethics Rule of USPAP and must summarize the 
information analyzed, appraisal methods and techniques employed, the reasoning 
supporting the analyses, opinions and conclusions. 


(b) Restricted Appraisal Report: The report must be consistent with the intended use 
of the appraisal and must clearly identify the client by name or type and must state a 
prominent use restriction that limits use of the report to the client and warns that the 
rationale for how the appraiser arrived at the opinions and conclusions set forth in 
the report may not be understood properly without additional information in the 
appraiser’s workfile. It must also state the appraisal methods and techniques 
employed, state the value opinion(s) and conclusion(s) reached and reference the 
workfile.  


 
 
COMPETENCY STATEMENT 
 
The Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) contains a provision relative 
to the ability of the appraiser to perform the appraisal assignment in a competent manner. This 
provision requires that, prior to accepting an appraisal assignment; the appraiser must thoroughly 
and properly identify the appraisal problem and possess the knowledge and experience to 
adequately and competently complete the appraisal assignment. In the event the appraiser does not 
possess adequate background and knowledge with which to appropriately address the appraisal 
assignment, he/she may draw upon or associate with another appraiser or consultant who does 
possess the necessary background and experience. In those instances where association with another 
individual was utilized, the name(s) of the individual and the extent of the association is identified 
herein. With respect to this report, the provision of the USPAP competency requirement has 
been adequately met.  







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page vi 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


SUBJECT PHOTOGRAPHS  
 
 
 
 
 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page vii 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 1 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


Identification of the Subject Property 
 
The subject of this appraisal is an 11.83± acre tract of residential land located on Medlen Parkway 
in the City of Conway, SC 29526. It is recognized by Horry County as tax map number 122-00-04-
010 (PIN 33800000003). The property has been engineered for the development of a 45-lot 
subdivision. As of the date of value, the client was reportedly in the last steps of the entitlement 
process, and they estimated it would be fully permitted and approved by May 1, 2024. 
 
 
Identification of the Client 
 
The client for this appraisal assignment is Forestar Real Estate Group – Coastal Division. We were 
engaged by Mr. Kurt A. Sandness, Division President, and Ms. Anna S. Lewis, Entitlements 
Manager. 
 
 
Identification of the Intended Users 
 
The intended users of this report include the client and their associates. It is our understanding that 
this appraisal will assist the client in asset management decisions regarding the subject property. 
Any other use of this report is forbidden without our written consent. No one else is an intended 
user without our express written consent.  
 
 
Purpose of the Appraisal  
 
The purpose of this report was to form an “as is” fee simple market value opinion of the subject 
property. 
 
 
Property Interest Appraised 
 
The value opinion in this appraisal report reflects the fee simple interest.  
 
 
Date of the Report 
 
The date of report is the date the report was completed and transmitted to the client, March 27, 
2024. 
 
 
Effective Date of Value 
 
The effective date of value for our market value opinion is the date of inspection, March 22, 2024. 
All data and reasoning are based on information obtained by the date of the report, above. 
 







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 2 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


Assumptions and Limiting Conditions 
 
Normal, ordinary and/or typical Assumptions and Limiting Conditions are found on Page iv herein. 
There was one extraordinary assumption and no hypothetical conditions involved in our 
analyses. These terms are defined herein. 
 
 
Definitions 
 
Extraordinary Assumption 
 
Extraordinary Assumption is defined by the Appraisal Standards Board of The Appraisal 
Foundation in Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice as: 
 


“An assignment-specific assumption as of the effective date regarding uncertain 
information used in an analysis which, if found to be false, could alter the 
appraiser’s opinions or conclusions.” 


 
This appraisal is based on the extraordinary assumption that all entitlements and permitting 
for the proposed 45-lot subdivision will be completed by about May 1, 2024. If this proves 
incorrect, our assignment results may need to be revisited. 
 
 
Hypothetical Condition 
 
Hypothetical Condition is defined by the Appraisal Standards Board of The Appraisal Foundation in 
Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice as: 


 
“A condition, directly related to a specific assignment, which is contrary to what is 
known by the appraiser to exist on the effective date of the assignment results, but is 
used for the purpose of analysis.” 


 
 
Market Value 
 
As defined by FDIC Rules and Regulations Part 323 (Appraisals), Section 323.2 (g): 
 


Market value means the most probable price which a property should bring in a 
competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer 
and seller each acting prudently and knowledgeably, and assuming the price is not 
affected by undue stimulus. Implicit in this definition is the consummation of a sale 
as of a specified date and the passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions 
whereby: 
 
(1) Buyer and seller are typically motivated;  
(2) Both parties are well informed or well advised, and acting in what they 


consider their own best interests; 







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 3 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


(3) A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market;  
(4) Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars or in terms of financial 


arrangements comparable thereto; and  
(5) The price represents the normal consideration for the property sold 


unaffected by special or creative financing or sales concessions granted by 
anyone associated with the sale. 


 
Paper Lot 
 
Although not formally defined by the appraisal organizations yet, for purposes herein, a “paper lot” 
is defined as undeveloped land that exists only on paper as residential streets and lots. Subdivision 
infrastructure such as electric, water, gas, and sewer, etc. have been engineered, entitled, and 
approved for the development, but had not been constructed/installed in the prospective subdivision 
on the date of value. “Paper” means that while it is planned and sometimes the plans have been 
recorded, the infrastructure development had not been completed as shown on the plans—the lots 
and streets did not exist. 
 
 
Marketing Time 
 
Marketing time as applicable herein and as described in The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, is 
as follows: 
 


“An opinion of the amount of time to sell property interest at the concluded market 
value or at a benchmark price during the period immediately after the effective date 
of an appraisal.”  


 
Upon review of the overall real estate market in the Grand Strand and considering how the subject 
property was positioned therein, it is our opinion that if available and properly exposed, the subject 
would sell at or very near the appraised value within twelve months.  
 
 
Exposure Time 
 
Exposure time as applicable herein and as described in The Dictionary of Real Estate Appraisal, is 
as follows: 
 


“An opinion, based on supporting market data, of the length of time the property 
interest being appraised would have been offered on the market prior to the 
hypothetical consummation of a sale at market value on the effective date of the 
appraisal.”  


 
 
Fee Simple Interest/Estate 
 
Fee simple interest as applicable herein and as described in The Dictionary of Real Estate 
Appraisal, is as follows: 







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 4 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


“Absolute ownership unencumbered by any other interest or estate, subject only to 
the limitations imposed by the governmental powers of taxation, eminent domain, 
police power, and escheat.” 


 
 
Leased Fee Interest 
 
The leased fee interest is described in The Appraisal of Real Estate, as:  
 


“The ownership interest held by the lessor, which includes the right to the contract rent 
specified in the lease plus the reversionary right when the lease expires.” 


 
 
Appraisal Procedures Followed 
 
To estimate the “as is” fee simple market value of the subject property, we developed a land sales 
comparison approach. 
 
This appraisal report sets forth only our conclusions and presents brief details of the data, reasoning 
and analyses that were used in the appraisal process to develop our opinion of value for the subject 
property. The depth of discussion contained in this report is specific to the needs of the client and 
for the intended use stated.  
 
  







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 5 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


Location 
 
The subject property is located on Medlen Parkway about 0.55± mile northeast of its intersection 
with US Highway 501 in the City of Conway, Horry County, SC 29526. Its location is indicated in 
the aerial map below. 
  


 
 
 
Access 


 
Access to the subject is provided by Medlen Parkway, which links the subject southwest to US 
Highway 501. This major highway connects to other points throughout the county, state and nation. 
 
 
Size and Shape 
 
According to the Site Plan prepared by G3 Engineering, dated January 13, 2021, the subject 
property is nearly rectangular in shape and contains 11.83± acres. It has been engineered to 
accommodate 45 single-family residential lots with a typical lot size of 5,500± square feet (50’ x 
110’). An excerpt from this site plan is provided on the next page and it is followed by an aerial 
view of the subject parcel. 
 
 
 







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 6 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


 


 







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 7 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


Soils 
 
We are not soil experts or engineers. Unless stated elsewhere in this report, this appraisal was made 
under the normal assumption that the soils are suitable for development, or the site can be suitably 
engineered for development to its highest and best use without significant additional cost. If the 
soils prove to be unduly problematic in development, our assignment results may need to be 
revised. 
 
 
Zoning 


 
The subject property is zoned R-3, High-Density Residential District, by the City of Conway, SC. 
The intent of this district is “to provide areas for medium density attached, detached, semiattached 
and multi-family residential development in the City of Conway, and to prohibit uses that would 
substantially interfere with the development or continuation of residential structures in the 
District.” We assume the proposed residential development is legally conforming within this 
district.  
 
 
Utilities and Services 


All common public utilities are available to the subject property, including water and sewer, 
telephone, cable TV and Internet connections, and electricity.  
 


 


Flood Zone   
 
According to Flood Insurance Rate Map Number 45051C0527K dated 12/16/2021, the subject 
property lies in non-flood Zone “X.” FEMA defines zone “X” as an “Area of minimal flood hazard, 
usually depicted on FIRMs as above the 500‐year flood level. Zone C may have ponding and local 
drainage problems that don't warrant a detailed study or designation as base floodplain. Zone X is 
the area determined to be outside the 500‐year flood and protected by levee from 100‐ year flood.” 
An excerpt from this flood map is provided below. 
 


 
Hazardous Materials and Wetlands 
 
No Phase I environmental survey or soil contamination study was provided. We checked with the 
Environmental Protection Agency to see if any registered contamination appeared on or near the 
subject property and found none. It is assumed that there is no soil contamination, hidden hazardous 
material or any wetlands adversely affecting the subject property. If these normal assumptions prove 
to be incorrect, our assignment results may need to be revisited.  
 
 
  







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 8 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


Easements and Encroachments 
 
It is assumed that there are typical utility easements and that there are no easements or 
encroachments that would adversely affect the subject property. It is beyond the scope of this 
appraisal assignment to address any unknown easements or encroachments. 
 
 
History of the Subject Property 


 
The Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice requires a three-year sales history of any 
property which is part of the subject property. As of the date of report, the subject property was 
owned by Honest Effort LLC, with a mailing address of 2073 Bethlehem Road, Hartsville, SC 
29550-8909. It has remained under this ownership in excess of three years from the date of value. 
 
 
Legal Description 
 
We were not provided with a formal legal description of the subject parcel. Horry County’s  
online property record shows the description for subject tax map number 122-00-04-010 (PIN 
33800000003) to be “SW 165 & 107; TRACT B.” According to USPAP, its tax identifier is 
definitive for appraisal reporting purposes.  
 
 
Assessment and Taxes 
 
As of the writing of this report, 2023 real estate taxes paid in the amount of $27.20, based on a 
taxable agricultural use value of $2,520. Horry County’s online property shows an estimated market 
value of $70,980. Our “as is” market value was significantly higher than the County’s appraised 
value. 
 
 
Highest and Best Use “As Is” 
 
The Grand Strand residential market has been thriving for several years and inventory has struggled 
to keep up with demand, resulting in rapidly increasing property values. Due to the scarcity of land 
near the coastal areas of Myrtle Beach and North Myrtle Beach, growth has spurred inland and the 
Conway market has seen significant growth. It is our opinion that the subject property would appeal 
to the market for residential development. 
 
 
Scope of the Subject Appraisal  
 
The scope of the subject appraisal was to collect, confirm and report data and to present an opinion 
of its market value. General market data and conditions are considered, including the property’s 







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 9 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


zoning, surrounding improvements and neighborhood. The format for the work performed for this 
appraisal assignment included the following:   
 


 Identification and analysis of the scope of work for the appraisal; 
 Correspondence and conversations with the property contact to obtain 


pertinent data about the subject; 
 Inspection of the subject property; 
 Consideration of the highest and best use of the subject; 
 Collection and analysis of market data which led to the completion of a land 


sales comparison approach to estimate the “as is” fee simple market value of 
the subject property; and  


 Preparation of the written report. 
  







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 10 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


MARKET VALUE “AS IS” 


 
Land Sales Comparison Approach 
 
To estimate the value of the subject property, we developed a land sales comparison approach 
focusing on the sale price per “paper lot,” or entitled lot. This was considered the most 
meaningful valuation method since this appraisal is based on the extraordinary assumption that 
the subject is fully entitled for completion of the proposed subdivision. 
 
The land sales comparison approach is used to estimate a value for a property through the 
comparison of sales of similar properties. This approach is based on the principle of substitution 
and assumes no prudent purchaser will pay more for a particular property than a similar 
substitute property. When using the land sales comparison approach, a sufficient number of sales 
are needed in order to establish a market pattern. Once established, the subject property can be 
analyzed to determine how it relates to this pattern. 
 
We selected comparable sales which provide market perspective for entitled land activity for 
future single-family developments across the greater Grand Strand market area. Although there 
has been steady sales activity of developed lots, there has been limited published sales activity of 
entitled/paper lots. We selected three closed sales for analysis. All were fully entitled with 
engineering completed for their proposed subdivisions.  
 
A location map and details of the comparable sales are provided on the following pages, 
followed by our market grid. It illustrates the differences between the comparable sales used in the 
analyses and the subject. Percentage adjustments were considered and reflect typical buyers’ 
reactions to the different physical characteristics and financing concerns. 
 
Note for adjustments: Appraisal theory states that generally a larger parcel of land will sell for 
a lower price per unit of value than a smaller one and vice versa. Our appraisers have observed 
many subdivision tract purchases over the past couple of years and market data reveals that 
there is little correlation from purchase price per “paper lot” to parcel size or from number of 
proposed homesites on larger versus smaller development tracts. Demand for development 
homesites is very high in today’s market. Developers are eager to obtain potential subdivision 
land and/or lots and price negotiations do not appear to depend on tract size or number of lots. 
It is our opinion that size adjustments are not warranted for the subject property based on the 
number of paper lots.  


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 11 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


Location Map of Comparable Sales 
  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


Subject 


Sale 2 


Sale 1 


Sale 3 







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 12 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


Land Sale No. 1 
 
 


 


 
Property Identification  
Record ID 2751 
Property Type Subdivision Land 
Address McKinley Short-Cut Road & SC Highway 905, Conway, Horry 


County, South Carolina 29526 
Tax ID PIN 29900000045 
  
Sale Data  
Grantor McKinley Land Co. LLC 
Grantee Beazer Homes LLC 
Sale Date October 05, 2023  
Deed Book/Page 4730/3367 
Property Rights Fee Simple 
Verification Tony Chestnut, Listing & Selling Agent; November 07, 2023; 


Public Records, Confirmed by Corey Peters 
Sale Price $7,693,000   
  


  







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 13 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


Land Sale No. 1 (Cont.) 
 
Land Data  
Zoning MRD-1 
  
Land Size Information  
Gross Land Size 82.920 Acres or 3,611,995 SF   
  
Indicators  
Sale Price/Gross Acre $92,776 
 
 
Remarks  
MLS# 2322329. This is the sale of an 82.92± acre tract located at the corner of McKinley Short-
Cut Road and SC Highway 905 in Conway, SC. As of the date of sale, the property had been 
fully engineered and entitled for the development of a 234-lot residential subdivision. This sale 
indicates a purchase price of $32,876 per "paper lot."  


  







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 14 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


Land Sale No. 2 
 
 


 


 
Property Identification  
Record ID 2750 
Property Type Subdivision Land 
Property Name Cooper's Bluff Phase 3 
Address Off Peachtree Road, Myrtle Beach, Horry County, South 


Carolina 29588 
Tax ID PIN 43900000038 
  
Sale Data  
Grantor Lynx Jericho Peachtree Phase II LLC 
Grantee Beverly Homes LLC 
Sale Date August 24, 2023  
Deed Book/Page 4716/3131 
Property Rights Fee Simple 
Verification Curtis Dukes, Listing & Selling Agent; November 07, 2023; 


Public Records, CBA23-0124, Confirmed by Corey Peters 
Sale Price $1,100,000   
  
Land Data  
Zoning MRD3 
  
Land Size Information  
Gross Land Size 27.570 Acres or 1,200,949 SF   
  
Indicators  
Sale Price/Gross Acre $39,898 


  







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 15 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


Land Sale No. 2 (Cont.) 
 
 
 
Remarks  
MLS# 2016676. This is the sale of a 27.57± acre tract that comprises Phase 3 of the Cooper's 
Bluff subdivision located on Peachtree Road in Myrtle Beach, SC. The property has direct 
frontage along the Atlantic Intracoastal Waterway. As of the date of sale, the property had been 
engineered and entitled for 28 single-family residential lots, 12 of which would have direct views 
of the waterway over the wetlands spanning the southern property boundary. This sale indicates a 
purchase price of $39,286 per "paper lot." 


 
 


 


 


 


  







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 16 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


Land Sale No. 3 
 
 


 


 
Property Identification  
Record ID 2724 
Property Type Subdivision Land 
Name 
Address 


Land for Sandridge Park 
123 Rosebud Lane, Little River, Horry County, South Carolina 
29566 


Tax ID PIN 1300009066 
  
Sale Data  
Grantor Horn Camp Holdings LLC 
Grantee RS Parker Development LLC 
Sale Date January 30, 2023  
Deed Book/Page 4639/1110 
Property Rights Fee Simple 
Verification Listing Agent, Clinton Howlett; February 13, 2023; Public 


Records, Confirmed by Corey Peters 
Sale Price $1,968,000   
  
Land Data  
Zoning SF6 
  
Land Size Information  
Gross Land Size 33.120 Acres or 1,442,707 SF   
  
Indicators  
Sale Price/Gross Acre $59,420 


  







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 17 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


Land Sale No. 3 (Cont.) 
 
 
Sale Price/Gross SF $1.36 
 
 
Remarks  
MLS# 2101540. This is the sale of a 33.12± acre portion of PIN 34900000025, which is located 
on Rosebud Lane in Little River, SC. This site had been permitted and engineered for 123 
single-family residential lots. This sale indicates a purchase price of $16,000 per "paper lot." 


  







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 18 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


 


 
Sale Price Per Entitled or Paper Lot 
 
Property Rights Conveyed: No adjustments were needed for property rights as all sales 
conveyed the fee simple interest.  
 
Financing and Conditions of Sale: No adjustments were needed for financing and conditions of 
sale as all were market transactions. 
 
Market Conditions: All sales closed in 2023 and were not adjusted for market conditions.  
 


Sale No Subject Sale 1 (2751) Sale 2 (2750) Sale 3 (2724)
Tax Map No./PIN 122-00-04-010  29900000045 43900000038 1300009066 
Location Medlen Parkway McKinley Short-Cut Rd off Peachtree Rd 123 Rosebud Ln
Community Conway Conway Myrtle Beach Little River
Gross Size/Acres 11.83 82.92 27.57 33.12
Number of Entitled Lots 45 234 28 123
Lots/Acre 3.80 2.82 1.02 3.71
Engineered Yes Yes Yes Yes
Zoning @ Sale R3 MRD1 MRD3 SF6
Date of Sale 10/5/2023 8/24/2023 1/30/2023
Sale Price $7,693,000 $1,100,000 $1,968,000


Sales Price/Entitled Lot $32,876 $39,286 $16,000


Property Rights Conveyed Fee Simple Fee Simple Fee Simple
     Adjustment 0% 0% 0%
Financing and Conditions of Sale Market Market Market
     Adjustment 0% 0% 0%
Market Conditions Similar Similar Similar
     Adjustment 0% 0% 0%


Adjusted Sales Price/Entitled Lot $32,876 $39,286 $16,000


Location Similar Superior Superior
     Adjustment 0% -5% -5%


Site Utility/Amenity Similar Superior Similar
     Adjustment 0% -15% 0%


Net Adjustments 0% -20% -5%


Adjusted Sales Price/Entitled Lot $32,876 $31,429 $15,200


Mean Indicated Value/Entitled Lot $26,502


  Estimated Sale Price/Entitled Lot $30,000
x                     Total Entitled Lots 45


Overall Indicated Value $1,350,000


Subject Value (Rounded) = $1,350,000


Land Sales Comparison Approach
11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, Horry County, SC 29526


Intangible Adjustments


Physical Adjustments


Subject Property Value Opinion







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 19 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


Location: Sale 1 was considered a similar location and was not adjusted. Sales 2 and 3 were 
considered superior locations and adjusted downward 5%. 
 
Site Utility/View Amenity: Sales 1 and 3 were considered similar to the subject in this regard 
and were not adjusted. Sale 2 had direct frontage along the Atlantic Intracoastal Waterway, and 
12 of the 28 lots would have direct views of the Waterway. For this reason, it was considered 
superior in this regard and adjusted downward 15%. 
 
We spoke with a market participant recently who informed us that he received two offers for a 
tract of land he owns in the subject market. The property had been fully entitled for the 
development of a subdivision and the offers he received were $31,000 per lot and $31,690 per 
lot. 


 
Considering the subject’s relevant characteristics and market trends, we estimated a value of 
$30,000 per entitled lot to be reasonable and supported, which indicated an overall value of 
$1,350,000. 


 
As a result of our investigations and analyses of the data gathered with respect to this 
assignment, and based on the assumptions and limiting conditions included herein, it is our 
opinion that the “as is” fee simple market value of the subject property, as of March 22, 2024, 
was: 
 


ONE MILLION THREE HUNDRED FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($1,350,000) 


Market Value “As Is” 
 
This market value opinion is based on the extraordinary assumption that all entitlements and 
permitting for the proposed 45-lot subdivision will be completed by about May 1, 2024. If this 
proves incorrect, our assignment results may need to be revisited.  


 
 
 
 
 
 
 


  







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 20 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


QUALIFICATIONS OF THE APPRAISER 


Corey L. Peters 
 
 
FORMAL EDUCATION 
 
Horry Georgetown Technical College  
 Graduated in 2010 with an Associates Degree in Civil Engineering Technology 
    
 
PROFESSIONAL APPRAISAL EDUCATION 
 


 Course QE-1   Basic Appraisal Principles: Columbia, SC – 2011 
 Course QE-2  Basic Appraisal Procedures: Charleston, SC – 2011 
 Course QE-3  Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice: Columbia, SC – 2011 
 Course QE-6  Residential Sales Comparison and Income Approaches: Columbia, SC - 2014


     
 Course QE-8  Statistics, Modeling, and Finance: Columbia, SC - 2011 
 Course QE-10  General Appraiser Market Analysis and Highest & Best Use: Columbia, SC - 2012 
 Course QE-11  General Appraiser Sales Comparison Approach: Columbia, SC - 2013 
 Course QE-12  General Site Valuation & Cost Approach: Columbia, SC - 2013   
 Course QE-13  General Appraiser Income Approach Part 1: Atlanta, GA – 2014 
 Course QE-13  General Appraiser Income Approach Part 2: Atlanta, GA - 2014 
 Course QE-14  General Report Writing & Case Studies: Columbia, SC - 2013      


    
                                
                                       
EXPERIENCE 
 
January, 2005 – November, 2008  Earthworks, Planning & Design Consultants – Architectural CAD 


Draftsman - Murrells Inlet, SC 
 
April, 2009 – March, 2010   Waccamaw Regional Council of Governments – Intern GIS Department  


-Georgetown, SC 
 
April, 2010- Present   Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC - Staff Appraiser - Myrtle Beach, SC 
 
 
PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATIONS & ACTIVITIES 
 
South Carolina Certified General Appraiser #6813 
North Carolina Certified General Appraiser #A8403 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 21 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


(Continued from Preceding Page) 
 


QUALIFICATIONS OF THE APPRAISER – Corey L. Peters 
 
 
PROPERTIES APPRAISED: 
 
Office Complexes (General and Medical)  Subdivisions 
Restaurants     Condominium Projects 
Warehouses     Churches 
Retail/ Commercial    Land (Commercial, Industrial, Residential, Agricultural)  
Self-Storage Facilities    Car Wash Facilities 
Shopping Centers     Replacement Cost Analyses 
Hotels/Motels     Gas Stations/Convenience Stores    
Nurseries     Apartment Complexes   
Special Use Properties    Multi-Family Projects 
Campgrounds 
 
 
ADDRESS: 
 
Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC   Telephone: (843) 839-2700 
3501 North Kings Highway, Suite 103-B  Fax:  (843) 692-7656 
Myrtle Beach, SC 29577     Website:  www.Cox-Beall.com 


Email:  coreyp@cox-beall.com 
 
  







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 22 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


REAL ESTATE QUALIFICATIONS AND EDUCATION 
FRED B. BEALL, MRICS 


 
 
APPRAISAL DESIGNATION: 
 
Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors – Member  
 
FORMAL EDUCATION 
 
Graduate of the University of South Carolina  BS in Business Administration (Finance/Real Estate) 
 
PROFESSIONAL APPRAISAL EDUCATION 
 
Over the years, a number of courses and seminars have been completed or successfully challenged with the following 
appraisal and real estate organizations: 


 Appraisal Institute 
 American Institute of Real Estate Appraisers: 
 Society of Real Estate Appraisers: 
 International Association of Assessing Officials 
 Realtors Education Foundation 
 Association of Realtors 
 Northwest Center for Professional Education 
 American Resort and Residential Development Association, etc. 


 
WORK EXPERIENCE 
 
1974 - 1975  Richland County (SC) Assessor’s Office; Staff Residential Appraiser; Columbia, South Carolina 
1975 - 1981 Thomas Watts & Associates; Independent Fee Appraiser (Residential/Commercial); Columbia, SC 
1981 - 1984 ResortMaster, Inc.; Real Estate Development; Myrtle Beach and Columbia, SC (Ocean Front 


Condominium Developments) 
1984 - 1986 Magnus Development Corporation (Co-Owner), Myrtle Beach, SC (Specialized in Ocean Front 


Condominium Development) 
1986 - 1988 Beall & Associates (Owner); Real Estate Development; Myrtle Beach, SC (Specialized in Golf 


Course Development) 
1989 - 1991 Helomer Development Corporation; Property Management of 1+ million square feet of federal office 


space in 7 states; New Development Acquisition Director for East Coast of US. 
1991 - 1992 Thomas Watts & Associates; Commercial Independent Fee Appraiser; Columbia, SC 
1992 - 2002 Beall & Associates (Owner); Commercial Independent Fee Appraisers; Myrtle Beach, SC 
2002 - Present Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC (Co-Owner); Independent Commercial Fee Appraiser, Manager of 


Commercial Appraisers, Appraisal Report Reviewer for Office, National Contract Commercial 
Appraisal Report Reviewer for national banks and SC LLR Appraiser’s Board; Myrtle Beach, SC. 


 
PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATIONS & LICENSES 
 
Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors – Member (# 1298933) 
South Carolina Certified General Real Estate Appraiser (License # CG1490). 
North Carolina Certified General Real Estate Appraiser (License # A5741). 
South Carolina Real Estate Broker (License # 63640) 
Member, Coastal Carolina Association of Realtors© 
Member, Brunswick County Association of Realtors© 
Member, Pee Deed Realtor© Association 
Member, Cape Fear Realtors© Association 
Member, Charleston Trident Association of Realtors© 
Past Member and Secretary, Central SC Chapter 194 of the Society of Real Estate Appraisers© 
 







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 23 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


Past Member of the Grand Strand Board of Realtors© 
Past Member of the Greater Horry County Board of Realtors© 


 
SERVICES OFFERED: 
 
Independent Fee Appraisals of Commercial and Residential Real Property 
Real Property Consulting and Counseling (Commercial and Residential) 
Feasibility Studies 
Appraisal Reviews for Lending Institutions 
 
PROPERTIES APPRAISED/TYPE WORK PERFORMED: 
 
Office Buildings, Bank Buildings and Complexes 
Shopping Centers (neighborhood and regional); Grocery Stores, Strip Centers, Festival Centers, Discount Centers, 
Outparcels 
Restaurants; Fast Food & Full Service 
Condominium Projects; Residential and Commercial; High-Rise, Mid-Rise, Low-Rise 
Hotels and Motels (Local and Franchise Ownerships) 
Churches and Other Religious Facilities 
Live Entertainment Theaters, Dinner Theaters and Movie Theaters 
Warehouses, Office/Warehouses, Flex Buildings and Mini-Warehouses 
Industrial Properties; Light and Heavy Industrial 
Golf Courses; Daily Fee, Semi-Private & Country Clubs; Regulation, Executive and Par-3  
Automobile Dealerships; New and Used Cars 
Recreational Vehicle Dealerships and Properties 
Convenience Stores, Gasoline Stations, Car Washes 
Right-of-Way Acquisitions for Property Owners and for Governmental Agencies 
Marinas and Boat Dealerships 
Amusement Facilities, Miniature Golf Courses 
Land; Commercial and Residential Development Sites, Subdivision Lots 
Partial Interest Ownership Appraisals 
 
APPRAISAL CLIENTS SERVED: 
 
Numerous National Banks, S&Ls, and other Thrift Institutions throughout South Carolina and other parts of the US 
Mortgage Brokers 
Attorneys 
Accountants  
Developers 
Property Owners 
City, State & Federal Government Agencies 
  
ADDRESS: 
 
Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
3501 North Kings Highway, Suite 103-B 
Myrtle Beach, SC 29577 
Telephone: (843) 839-2700 
Fax:  (843) 692-7656 
Email:  FredB@Cox-Beall.com 
Website:  www.Cox-Beall.com 
 


 


  







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 24 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


Online Property Record 


 


  







11.83± Acres on Medlen Parkway, Conway, SC 29526 Page 25 


 
 


Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC  
 


Online Tax Record & Payment History 


 


 


 


 







Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC   ●   3501 N. Kings Hwy., Suite 103-B   ●   Myrtle Beach, SC 29577 
Phone: 843-839-2700                Fax: 843-692-7656                 www.Cox-Beall.com 

Restricted Appraisal Report 

of 

11.83± Acres 
Medlen Parkway 

Conway, Horry County, SC 29526 
Tax Map Number 122-00-04-010 (PIN 33800000003) 

Our File# 24-0035 

for 

Forestar Real Estate Group – Coastal Division 
c/o Mr. Kurt A. Sandness, Division President & 

Ms. Anna S. Lewis, Entitlements Manager 

as of 

March 22, 2024 

by 

Corey L. Peters & Fred B. Beall, MRICS  
Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC 

3501 North Kings Highway, Suite 103-B 
Myrtle Beach, SC  29577 

Copyright © 2024 
Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC 

All rights reserved. No part of this document may be reproduced in any form or by any means, electronic or 
mechanical, including photocopying and recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system without 

permission in writing from Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC 

68



Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC   ●   3501 N. Kings Hwy., Suite 103-B   ●   Myrtle Beach, SC 29577 
Phone: 843-839-2700                Fax: 843-692-7656                 www.Cox-Beall.com 

March 27, 2024 

Forestar Real Estate Group – Coastal Division 
c/o Mr. Kurt A. Sandness, Division President & 
Ms. Anna S. Lewis, Entitlements Manager 

Re: Appraisal of 11.83± Acres 
Medlen Parkway 
Conway, Horry County, SC 29526 
Tax Map Number 122-00-04-010 (PIN 33800000003) 
Our File# 24-0035 

Attention Forestar Real Estate Group – Coastal Division: 

At your request, we inspected the above referenced property and researched and analyzed comparable 
market data for the purpose of forming an opinion of its “as is” market value as of March 22, 2024. 
Our value opinion is based on the extraordinary assumption that all entitlements and permitting for the 
proposed 45-lot subdivision will be completed by May 1, 2024. 

The subject of this appraisal is an 11.83± acre tract of residential land located on Medlen Parkway 
in the City of Conway, SC 29526. It is recognized by Horry County as tax map number 122-00-04-
010 (PIN 33800000003). The property has been engineered for the development of a 45-lot 
subdivision. As of the date of value, the client was reportedly in the last steps of the entitlement 
process, and they estimated it would be fully permitted and approved by May 1, 2024. 

To form our “as is” market value opinion of the subject property, we used a land sales comparison 
approach.  

A reasonable marketing time to sell the subject property at or near our opinion of market value is 
within twelve months if properly exposed to the open real estate market, and the exposure time 
for our analyses was estimated to have been twelve months. 

It is our understanding that this appraisal will aid in asset management decisions by Forestar Real 
Estate Group – Coastal Division. Any other use of this letter of transmittal or the attached report is 
forbidden without our written consent.  

Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC 
Commercial Real Estate Appraisers & Consultants 

Charles A. Cox, MAI Laura Peters Lang Corey L. Peters 
Fred B. Beall, MRICS T. Woods Brown 

69



Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC   ●   3501 N. Kings Hwy., Suite 103-B   ●   Myrtle Beach, SC 29577 
Phone: 843-839-2700                Fax: 843-692-7656                 www.Cox-Beall.com 

Page 2 

The attached appraisal report is intended to comply with the requirements set forth by the Uniform 
Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP) for appraisal reports. The appraisal 
assignment was not based on a requested minimum valuation, a specific valuation or the approval of 
a loan. To the best of our ability, this report has been made in compliance with USPAP, federal 
regulation 12 CFR Part 34 (Title XI of FIRREA) and the standards endorsed by the Appraisal 
Institute and the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors. 

As a result of our investigations and analyses of the data gathered with respect to this 
assignment, and based on the assumptions and limiting conditions included in the attached 
report, it is our opinion that the “as is” fee simple market value of the subject property, as of 
March 22, 2024, was: 

ONE MILLION THREE HUNDRED FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($1,350,000) 

Market Value “As Is” 

This market value opinion is based on the extraordinary assumption that all entitlements and 
permitting for the proposed 45-lot subdivision will be completed by about May 1, 2024. If this 
proves incorrect, our assignment results may need to be revisited.  

No assistance in completing this assignment was received by the undersigned from anyone other 
than the secretarial and research staff of Cox, Beall & Associates, LLC. The reported opinion of 
value was not based upon a requested minimum, maximum or specific valuation. 

If we can be of any further assistance or if there are any questions, please do not hesitate to 
contact us. Respectfully submitted,  

_______________________________ _____________________________  
Corey L. Peters Fred B. Beall, MRICS  
Certified General Real Estate Appraiser Certified General Real Estate Appraiser 
(SC# CG6813) (NC# A8403)  (SC# CG1490) (NC# A5741) 

70



POND WATER
SURFACE

0.69 AC
(25% = .17 AC)

45

44

43

42

41

40

39

38

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

29

28

27

26

25

24

23

22

32

33

34

35

36

37

30

31

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

19

18

20

21

OPEN SPACE

0.74 AC

MEDLEN PARKWAY

(75' PUBLIC R/W)

PR
IV

AT
E 

EA
SE

M
EN

T

(5
0' 

PR
IV

AT
E 

R/
W

)

15' SEWER
UTILITY

EASEMENT

15'
LANDSCAPE

BUFFER

PUBLIC
PEDESTRIAN
EASEMENT

(VARIABLE WIDTH)

50'
R/W

50'
R/W

15'
LANDSCAPE

BUFFER

15'
LANDSCAPE

BUFFER

15'
LANDSCAPE

BUFFER

O.S.
0.03 AC.

O.S.
0.03 AC.

O.S.
0.03 AC.

O.S.
0.01 AC.

O.S.
0.04 AC.

0.04 AC.

O.S.
0.03 AC.

O.S.
0.03 AC.

P.
O

. B
O

X 
26

66
PA

W
LE

YS
 IS

LA
N

D
, S

C
 2

95
85

w
w

w
.G

3E
ng

in
ee

rin
g.

or
g

SHEET

PR
EP

AR
ED

 F
O

R

PROJ. NO.
DATE:

PH
O

N
E:

 8
43

.2
37

.1
00

1

N
O

.
R

EV
IS

IO
N

S
BY

D
AT

E

C
O

PY
R

IG
H

T 
G

3 
EN

G
IN

EE
R

IN
G

, L
LC

.  
AN

Y 
U

SE
 O

F 
TH

IS
 P

LA
N

  W
H

O
LE

 O
R

 IN
 P

AR
T 

IN
 A

N
Y 

FO
R

M
AT

 W
IT

H
O

U
T 

EX
PR

ES
SE

D
 W

R
IT

TE
N

 C
O

N
SE

N
T,

 O
R

 W
IT

H
O

U
T 

SI
G

N
AT

U
R

E 
AN

D
 S

EA
L,

 A
R

E 
IN

VA
LI

D
.

c

EN
G

IN
EE

R
IN

G

SCALE:

0

APPROVED:
DRAWN:
DESIGNED:

804020

1" = 40'

OMP
10-16-23

DCG
DWT
FHP

O
P

E
N

 S
P

A
C

E
 E

X
H

IB
IT

F
O

R
E

S
T

A
R

 R
E

A
L 

E
S

T
A

T
E

 G
R

O
U

P
, I

N
C

.

H
O

R
R

Y 
C

O
U

N
TY

, C
O

N
W

AY
, S

C

C
H

A
P

M
A

N
 V

IL
LA

G
E

REQUIRED OPEN SPACE CALCULATION:

# LOTS x AVG. HOUSEHOLD SIZE x .008 = REQUIRED OPEN SPACE
(45 LOTS) x (2.6 PEOPLE / HOUSE) x .008 = 0.936 AC

INTERNAL OPEN SPACE: 0.74 AC*
25% OF WATER SURFACE: 0.17 AC**
LANDSCAPE BUFFER: 0.33 AC***
EXTERIOR OPEN SPACE: 0.24****

TOTAL OPEN SPACE= 1.48 AC
* INTERNAL OPEN SPACE  =

** 25% OF WATER SURFACE  =
*** LANDSCAPE BUFFER  =

**** EXTERIOR OPEN SPACE  =

71



72



DATE:  APRIL 15, 2024 
ITEM:  VIII.B. 

ISSUE: 

Request from Apex Promoz, LLC for Gobble Gobble 5k and 1 Miler – November 23, 2024 
from 8:00 a.m. – 9:30 a.m. 

BACKGROUND: 

Apex Promoz would like to host a Thanksgiving themed 5K and 1 miler through downtown 
Conway (see attached maps). Apex will handle all course markings and coordination. 

Roads affected will be Laurel Street, Second Avenue, Elm Street, Marina Drive, and Ash Pond 
Road.  

There will be a speaker to play music.  Police and fire assistance are requested. 

Apex Promoz anticipates 125 participants and 3 vendors. 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve the special event permit as presented. 

73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



DATE:  APRIL 15, 2024 
ITEM:  VIII.C. 

ISSUE: 

Establish a standardized 5K run route. 

BACKGROUND: 

Conway Police Department has increasing demands with special events at various locations, some 
include 5K runs. They generally start at, or near, the Conway Marina on Elm Street. There are 
various versions of routes used, and all impact street crossings, have closures, and require 
dedicated police officers working overtime assignments to manage the event safely. 

DATA: 

Using the route several events utilize from Elm Street at the Conway Marina requires the use of 
10 officers. It also requires street crossings at numerous intersections from 2nd Avenue until it turns 
at 15th Avenue. Traffic on 16th Avenue is also impacted since vehicles are not allowed to enter the 
run course where runners are at. This course is a loop and affects city streets for 3 miles. The bulk 
is in residential neighborhoods and requires many people to avoid the route until the event 
concludes.  

The route the Conway Sports & Fitness uses for their “Under the Lights Run” goes into Riverfront 
Park, along the Riverwalk, and finally uses city streets at Kingston Street, approximately 1 mile 
into the event. The out-and-back part then returns, crosses behind the Peanut Warehouse, briefly 
down Laurel Street and crosses Elm Street onto Marina Drive. That out-and-back section is on a 
lightly travel road impacting no residences or businesses. In total, the run route used for this event 
impacts just over 1 mile of city streets. The only residential impact is the Kingston Point Condos, 
and they are already impacted by the other route version. This route requires 4 officers, drastically 
reducing demands on manpower.  

RECOMMENDATION: 

Standardize the 5K run route allowed for permitted events to the same route utilized for the “Under 
the Lights Run.”  A copy of the race route map is included.  

When the Riverwalk area around the newly acquired property is completed, a revision from this 
route to utilize the new venue will be submitted.  

91



92


	1.City of Conway Council Meeting Agenda 4.15.2024
	2.Fair Housing combined
	issue paper fair housing
	Fair Housing Resolution 2024

	3.Under the Lights 5K combined
	Under the Lights 5k 2024
	Under the Lights 5K application

	4.Kingston Bay PH 2 LOC combined
	!Kingston Bay LOC (PH. 2) estimate - Council issue paper & resolution (4.15.24)
	Revised - COST ESTIMATE(infrastructure)_Kingston Bay Phase 2 (4.3.24)
	FP_Kingston Bay Ph 2_P23-0242_S3 (11.13.23)

	5.Replacement Vehicle for Fire combined
	Staff Vehicle Purcahse 4.2.2024
	Estimate_1020_2024-06-01

	6.Finance vehicle combined
	Issue Paper - Explorer
	SKM_C250i24040809180

	7.Jenkins Field Resolution combined
	Issue Jenkins Field Rd dedication
	Jenkins Field Road Resolution
	SKM_C250i24040813450

	8.Coach Gary Gilmore
	9.City Council Meeting Minutes 3.18.2024
	10.autism month issue
	11.employee of the month issue
	12.5204 Columbia St combined
	!1st Reading_CC Issue Paper - 5204 Columbia Street (R-1 annexation)
	ZOOMED IN AERIAL MAP FOR 5204 COLUMBIA ST
	ZOOMED OUT AERIAL MAP FOR 5204 COLUMBIA ST
	ZONING MAP FOR 5204 COLUMBIA ST
	FUTURE LAND USE MAP FOR 5204 COLUMBIA ST
	FLOOD ZONE MAP FOR 5204 COLUMBIA ST
	Restrictive Covenants
	APP_5204 Columbia Street_P24-0053 (3.7.24)

	13.Chapman Village open space Fee in lieu combined
	!Issue paper - Chapman Village - fee in lieu of OS
	Email from Forestar with 2 different fee-in-lieu options
	Appraisal report for Chapman Village (first few pgs only)
	Open Space Exhibit_Design Mod
	Chapman Village illustration

	14.Gobble Gobble combined
	Gobble Gobble 5K
	gobble gobble application

	15.Standard 5K Run Route combined
	IP Standardized 5K route
	Proposed Standard 5K Run Route

	16.boards combined
	ISSUE PAPER_Boards 
	Donna Baxley BZA
	PC Application - Gregory Bryson
	Ashley_Hadfield_HAC_Board_Application




